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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

          3  Nick.  Okay, good afternoon.  My name is Jim

          4  Gennaro, Chair of the City Council's Committee on

          5  Environmental Protection.  Today, with the Council's

          6  Economic Development Committee, Chaired by my

          7  colleague and friend, Tom White, we'll be looking at

          8  how we can support and promote local businesses and

          9  jobs here in New York City by capitalizing on the

         10  rapidly growing markets for so-called "green

         11  products and services" in the City.

         12                 The City of New York, to a large

         13  extent, by adopting legislation that has been

         14  advanced by the City Council, has become a national

         15  leader on a number of environmental fronts. For

         16  example, the City is taking a big bite out of the

         17  big apple's air pollution by transforming the City's

         18  massive fleet of cars, school buses, garbage trucks

         19  and other heavy duty vehicles into clean air

         20  vehicles.  The City is making our schools and

         21  offices healthier and making healthy, high quality

         22  jobs for trade workers by turning $12 billion in

         23  City construction and renovation over the next ten

         24  years into certified green buildings.

         25                 The City is now buying or will be
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          2  buying many of the greenest, cleanest and most

          3  effective lighting, consumer electronics, paper,

          4  pesticides, and cleaning supplies available on the

          5  market today.  Thus, saving energy, reducing waste,

          6  advancing recycling and reducing toxics in our

          7  environment.

          8                 Fortunately, the City government is

          9  not alone. Almost daily, one reads a newspaper story

         10  about the greening of New York City's private sector

         11  or the building of another high performance building

         12  being put up, one more company that has come to

         13  embrace energy efficiency or clean energy or one

         14  more of our City's institutions purchasing

         15  environmental sustainability, pursuing environmental

         16  sustainability through their purchasing practices.

         17                 The effect of this greening of City

         18  government and the private sector is the creation of

         19  a burgeoning new market for green products and

         20  services in the City and, as I noted before, a

         21  market that, in the coming years, that will well

         22  exceed $12 billion for City green building projects

         23  alone.

         24                 For the purpose of encouraging

         25  economic development, expanding high quality jobs
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          2  and improving environmental health in the City, it

          3  is my belief that the City of New York should take

          4  an active role in helping New York City's fledgling

          5  green businesses to seize the opportunities

          6  presented by the City's growing new market for green

          7  products and services.

          8                 In fact, this is why Speaker Quinn

          9  and I spearheaded the creation of a new Council

         10  budget initiative, the New York City Green

         11  Manufacturing Initiative, through last year's City

         12  budget.  This Initiative is focused on strengthening

         13  the green supply chain, which extends from New York

         14  City's manufacturers to the potential consumers of

         15  their products, as well as identifying opportunities

         16  to create more green collar jobs for our City's

         17  workforce.

         18                 Today, through this Hearing, it is my

         19  goal to further explore the opportunities, as well

         20  as obstacles that still do exist for New York City

         21  businesses to capitalize on green markets, such as

         22  green buildings, energy efficiency and management

         23  and green office products.

         24                 With this information in hand, it is

         25  my hope that the Council, in cooperation with the

                                                            8

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  Bloomberg Administration, can help identify ways in

          3  which we can further assist our local businesses to

          4  capitalize on the great new opportunities presented

          5  by the continued greening of New York City and other

          6  cities and states around the country.  Because, you

          7  have to understand, this is happening all over the

          8  country and, currently, there is no, sort of, home

          9  base for the environmental products and services

         10  industry and I think that should be here in New York

         11  City.

         12                 So, I'm going to turn it over to

         13  Council Member White for a statement.  But, before I

         14  do, I just want to thank, in a special way  --  I'm

         15  also going to recognize the Members that are here.

         16  I want to thank, in a special way, folks from two

         17  green businesses.

         18                 We took a tour today in Queens.  We

         19  took a tour in Brooklyn, to see two, well, one new

         20  growing green business and other, well, it's kind of

         21  like a long- standing business that's making a great

         22  conversion to, you know, green products.

         23                 First, I want to mention on the

         24  record, DFB Sales, particularly Catherine Barton,

         25  who I think is here today.  Is Catherine here today?
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          2    She's their Business Development Director. She

          3  took us around.  They make wall coverings and shades

          4  and all, you know, green products.  And, the

          5  Bettencourt Green Building Supply.  These are folks

          6  that use, you know, lumber and wood that's sort of

          7  thrown away by wood making shops and piano makers

          8  and building products.  They take this wood from all

          9  around the City and they make it into great

         10  furniture.

         11                 So, a lot of folks helped make this

         12  happen.  First of all, the staff of the New York

         13  Industrial Retention Network, that's particularly

         14  Adam Friedman and Tanu Kumar (phonetic).  As a

         15  matter of fact, the NYIRN, as we call them, is one

         16  of the partners in this budget initiative from

         17  Speaker Quinn and myself, to sort of grow green

         18  businesses around the City.

         19                 We also want to thank New York

         20  Apollo/Urban Agenda, that's ably represented by

         21  Joanne Durwin (phonetic).  I see Ed Ott from the,

         22  President of the Central Labor Council, who's very

         23  active in New York Apollo and it's great to have Ed

         24  here.  Also, an entity that helped make these tours

         25  possible today and have been great in trying to grow
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          2  green business is the Industrial Technology

          3  Assistance Corporation, particularly Stephanie

          4  Feldman.

          5                 So, we've got a great team, you know,

          6  between the Council, the groups that I just

          7  mentioned, the Bloomberg Administration.

          8  Everybody's going green in a big way, but we have to

          9  do it in the smartest way possible.  So, I'm glad we

         10  can all be here and come together and talk about

         11  that.

         12                 Let me just recognize some of the

         13  Council Members that are here.  We have Council

         14  Member Vallone, Council Member Stewart, Council

         15  Member James, Council Member Koppell, who I know is

         16  Chairing a Hearing across the street, Council Member

         17  McMahon. Did I miss anybody?  I think I'm good.  I

         18  want to thank also the staff of the Committee, Donna

         19  De Costanzo and Dan Avery, my own staff, Peter

         20  Washburn and Dina Iverson (phonetic), that have been

         21  so helpful.  It's my pleasure to turn it over, for

         22  an opening statement, to my Co-Chair, Council Member

         23  Tom White.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Mr.

         25  Chairman, as you mentioned, I'm late for Chairing
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          2  the Committee which you also serve on and I know  --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  --  That

          5  you're going to try and drop in later on, but I'm

          6  going to have to leave, even though this subject is

          7  one very near and dear to my heart.  I'm delighted

          8  that the Committee is, in fact, looking into this

          9  and I give my full support.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you

         11  Oliver.  Council Member White.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Yes, I would like

         13  recognize, prior to my opening statement, Council

         14  Member Vallone.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Thank you.

         16  I would just also like to commend both Chairs and

         17  these Committees for the important work you're doing

         18  today.  I fully support it, unfortunately, I have

         19  parent/teacher meetings at 2:00.  I would love to

         20  stay here for this Hearing, because it's very

         21  important to me, but keep up the good work.  I fully

         22  support you and the people in this room for the work

         23  you're doing.  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Thank you very

         25  much.  Good afternoon.  I'm Thomas White, Junior.
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          2  I'm the Chair of the Economic Development Committee

          3  and I would like to welcome you to this Joint

          4  Hearing with the Committee on Environmental

          5  Protection, Chaired by my colleague, Councilman

          6  Gennaro.

          7                 As many of you know, our City has

          8  been a forerunner in the development of pro-

          9  environmental and pro efficiency laws and policy.

         10  The purpose of today's Hearing is to learn how the

         11  City can capitalize on the environmental policies

         12  and laws to develop the green industry.  This

         13  section is particularly important, given today's

         14  global climate that is threatened by poor

         15  environmental policies and actions.  We look forward

         16  to doing our part, at the City Council, to support

         17  this critically important and economic sector.

         18                 We also look forward to today's

         19  testimony from businesses, community groups and

         20  industry leaders on this topic. With that being

         21  said, it would appear as though people have many

         22  meetings and we do work very hard.  I, too, have a

         23  conflict in terms of a meeting over at City Hall in

         24  the Chambers.  So, at a certain point, I will be

         25  leaving here, but, I will be back to still
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          2  participate in this Hearing.  With that being said,

          3  I turn this back over to my colleague, Chairman

          4  Gennaro.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you

          6  Council Member White or Chairman White, as we're

          7  both Chairman today.  That's nice.  That's a good

          8  thing.  We would like to call our first witness  --

          9  and we're joined by Council Member Palma.  Thank you

         10  for being here.

         11                 The first witness, from the Bloomberg

         12  Administration, Jennifer Becker, Assistant Vice

         13  President, Economic Development Corporation.  You

         14  know we're going to, we have a custom of swearing in

         15  our witnesses.  We're joined now by our swearing in

         16  officer, Counsel Donna De Costanzo.  She can give an

         17  oath with the best of them.  So, I call upon Donna

         18  to swear the witness and then you can, it's a

         19  pleasure to have you.  Then, once duly sworn, you

         20  can commence a due statement.

         21                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Please raise

         22  your right hand.  In the testimony that you're about

         23  to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth,

         24  the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         25                 MS. BECKER:  I do.
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          2                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

          4  Thank you for being here.  I have your statement.

          5  If you could state your name for the record and

          6  proceed with your testimony.

          7                 MS. BECKER:  Good afternoon Chairman

          8  Gennaro, Chairman White, Members and staff of the

          9  Environmental Protection and Economic Development

         10  Committees.  For the record, I am Jennifer Becker,

         11  Assistant Vice President of Clean Energy and

         12  Sustainability at the New York City Economic

         13  Development Corporation and EDC's Executive

         14  Sustainability Officer.  I appreciate the

         15  opportunity to testify on the environmental and

         16  economic issues you raise with this Hearing and on

         17  the Administration's current policies to promote

         18  green business, in all its forms, in New York City.

         19                 In my testimony today, I would like

         20  to touch on a few different elements: Several

         21  programs the City currently manages that create

         22  demand for green products and services, local laws

         23  and mandates that enhance these efforts, the new

         24  green industry desk at EDC and the planning efforts

         25  underway at the Mayor's Office of Long Term Planning
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          2  and Sustainability.

          3                 The City is taking a leadership role

          4  in promoting green products and services in New York

          5  City.  As you may know, in 1997, the Department of

          6  Design and Construction created the Office of

          7  Sustainable Design to identify and implement cost

          8  effective ways to promote environmental

          9  responsibility in building design.

         10                 This office was created almost a

         11  decade before Local 86 (sic) was passed and several

         12  years before the U.S. Green Building Council's

         13  Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design

         14  program became the defacto national standard.  These

         15  efforts have recently expanded to include green

         16  design standards for municipal infrastructure as

         17  well.

         18                 As of May, 2006, 30 projects under

         19  the Office of Sustainable Design's management have

         20  been built or in the design and construction stage

         21  and include a DOT maintenance facility, libraries

         22  and day care facilities around the City.  These

         23  projects have created a training ground for dozens

         24  of architects, engineers and contractors in green

         25  building principals.  In fact, for many of these
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          2  consultants, their involvement in DDC projects was

          3  their first introduction to green building.

          4                 Local Law 86, passed last year, built

          5  on this effort by requiring the majority of City

          6  government capital projects, including new

          7  construction, building additions and substantial

          8  reconstruction projects, to be built according to

          9  green building and efficiency standards.  Since

         10  Local Law 86 will affect not just City- owned

         11  properties, but also private developments where the

         12  City is a significant funding source, the green

         13  building requirements will have a widespread

         14  influence on the local market.

         15                 Overall, Local 86 (sic) is expected

         16  to impact over $12 billion in construction over the

         17  ten years, creating substantial new demand for green

         18  products and services, ranging from architects,

         19  engineers, contractors, manufacturers, maintenance

         20  workers and others.  Additionally, for the past

         21  year, EDC's real estate group has required all

         22  respondents to its RFPs to commit to building green

         23  buildings.

         24                 This coming year, several additional

         25  laws will take effect that will add environmental
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          2  requirements to the City's purchasing policies and

          3  will, therefore, create additional demand for green

          4  products.  These laws establish a new director of

          5  citywide environmental purchasing and provides

          6  substantive standards requiring the purchase of

          7  EnergyStar and water efficient products, products

          8  containing lower levels of hazardous materials,

          9  products with recycled content and green cleaning

         10  products.

         11                 Many contracts for goods and

         12  contracts for construction, other than construction

         13  already covered by Local Law 86, are captured by

         14  these environmental purchasing laws.

         15                 In fiscal year 2006 DCA's contracted

         16  for nearly $80 million in goods with environmental

         17  specifications and over half of City construction

         18  contracts in fiscal year  '06 contain one or more

         19  environmental requirements called for in the new

         20  laws.

         21                 Going forward, environmental

         22  standards will be added to other goods and

         23  construction contracts.  For example, the Mayor's

         24  Office recently released draft rules for City

         25  purchasing, setting standards for the chemical

                                                            18

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  content of carpeting products and paints and on the

          3  efficiency and mercury content of fluorescent light

          4  bulbs.  All of these green products will demand

          5  suppliers.

          6                 Another way the City is helping to

          7  expand markets for recycled material, excuse me, for

          8  recycled materials, is through its $35 million

          9  infrastructure investment to support the Sims Hugo

         10  Neu recycling facility on the Brooklyn waterfront.

         11  The project will create 80 union jobs, ranging from

         12  entry level workers on the plant's sorting line to

         13  equipment operators to facility managers.

         14                 In addition to helping to stabilize

         15  the cost of the City's recycling program, the 20-

         16  year contract the City has with Hugo Neu will yield

         17  a variety of recycled products that can be used in

         18  manufacturing processes.  Some of the materials will

         19  include bales of aluminum that will be directed back

         20  into beverage container production; plastic resins,

         21  which after being flaked and washed, can be used in

         22  plastic lumber and other products; various grades of

         23  paper that can be pulped and made into new paper

         24  products and scrap metal, which can be shredded and

         25  utilized in metal fabrication.  Incorporating
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          2  recycled content is a key component to green

          3  manufacturing and these materials can be the

          4  foundation for a number of exciting business

          5  opportunities.

          6                 The City also continues to make great

          7  strides improving energy efficiency at its own

          8  facilities.  DCAS' Office of Energy Conservation,

          9  which runs the ENCORE program, manages energy

         10  efficiency projects at City facilities.  A typical

         11  energy efficiency project includes an energy audit

         12  and the installation of efficient lighting, motors

         13  and sensors and often, more efficient ventilating

         14  and air conditioning equipment as well.

         15                 To date, the City has completed

         16  approximately 250 projects, resulting in an energy

         17  reduction of 22 megawatts at City facilities.  Each

         18  of these projects requires the service of energy

         19  auditors, engineers and contractors as well as the

         20  purchase of any relevant equipment, further

         21  expanding the local market for these important

         22  services and products.

         23                 Of course, while the City's emphasis

         24  in the past has been to attain higher environmental

         25  standards in its infrastructure, a clear additional
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          2  benefit was the demand these standards created for

          3  services.  What we are beginning to see now on the

          4  service side are the genuine beginnings of bona fide

          5  industries undergirding this environmentally sound

          6  policy.

          7                 The City is also helping to ensure

          8  that energy services provided by the private sector

          9  advance its environmental policy objectives.  For

         10  example, EDC's Energy and Telecommunications

         11  Department has a policy to negotiate community

         12  impact fees every time a power plant seeks to be

         13  sited or expanded within the City.  These fees are

         14  used to alleviate the adverse impact the energy

         15  projects may have on the immediate communities

         16  affected by the new plant.

         17                 Most recently, almost $2 million in

         18  fees were negotiated as part of the KeySpan

         19  Ravenswood plant expansion.  In addition to funds

         20  provided for air quality improvements, asthma

         21  prevention and treatment programs at local hospitals

         22  and improvements to a local park in Long Island

         23  City, a million dollars has been dedicated to

         24  renewable energy investments, including $200,000.00

         25  provided to the Verdant Power project, which has
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          2  recently started to install pilot tidal power

          3  turbines in the East River.  When complete, the

          4  Verdant project is expected to generate up to ten

          5  megawatts of power from the river's tidal flows.

          6                 The fund will also support the

          7  installation of over 150 kilowatts of solar panels

          8  on the Long Island City public schools, a hospital

          9  and other communities institutions.  These funds are

         10  also being used to directly turn auto body shops in

         11  Queens into environmentally friendly businesses

         12  through a program run by DEP's Environmental

         13  Economic Development Assistant Unit.

         14                 Through rebates, the program

         15  encourage auto body shops to purchase high volume,

         16  low pressure spray guns that use approximately 25

         17  percent less paint, emit close to 50 percent fewer

         18  particles (sic) and 25 percent fewer volatile

         19  organic compounds into the air, as well as dust-

         20  free sanding devices that reduce sanded waste and

         21  particulate emissions by as much as 90 percent.

         22  This program is based on a similar successful one in

         23  the Bronx that assisted 14 companies in purchasing

         24  the greener spray guns.

         25                 The North Brooklyn Energy Grant
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          2  program is another example of the City working to

          3  promote energy conservation projects in the private

          4  sector.  The program, funded jointly by the

          5  Administration and the City Council and managed by

          6  the New York Industrial Retention Network, helps to

          7  green the operations of manufacturing companies in

          8  Greenpoint and Williamsburg by funding energy

          9  conservation measures at industrial facilities.

         10  $400,000.00 has been committed for projects that

         11  will reduce energy costs and use at 19 firms.

         12                 Projects range from lighting

         13  retrofits to a large cogeneration system.  These

         14  projects leverage NYSERDA funds such as the Energy

         15  Audit, Smart Equipment Choice and the Peak Load

         16  Reduction programs and create economic activity for

         17  energy service providers such as auditors and

         18  installers.

         19                 An important City policy objective is

         20  to sustain a vital manufacturing base, green or

         21  otherwise.  However, as green industry evolves, the

         22  City is, in particular, looking for unique

         23  opportunities to attract this growing market and the

         24  City's 16 Industrial Business Zones or IBZs are part

         25  of that equation.
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          2                 Overseen by the Mayor's Office of

          3  Industrial and Manufacturing Businesses, the IBZs

          4  are areas in which the City has committed to

          5  maintain appropriate zoning and use restrictions to

          6  support existing industrial businesses and ensure

          7  that these areas remain affordable and available in

          8  the future.

          9                 Additionally, the City has contracted

         10  with local development corporations in each of the

         11  16 IBZs to provide on the ground support to

         12  individual firms that may need assistance in

         13  obtaining financing, complying with City regulations

         14  or accessing government incentive programs.

         15                 The real estate provisions, coupled

         16  with the business assistance, gives our industrial

         17  sector room to grow. It is important to emphasize

         18  that our overall goal is to ensure that our

         19  industrial base remains a vital part of the economy

         20  and that this is an effort that will take a

         21  continued commitment from the Mayor, the City

         22  Council and other key stakeholders.

         23                 A key initiative to help build New

         24  York City's green collar job base overall is EDC's

         25  Green Industry Desk, which was created to help focus
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          2  interest on all types of green businesses.  As part

          3  of EDC's Client Coverage team, the Green Desk will

          4  act as the center for green business connections and

          5  promotion.  The Desk will first and foremost market

          6  New York City to businesses and entrepreneurs

          7  worldwide as a green City and is the place to do

          8  business if you are a green company.  We do, after

          9  all, have the largest pipeline of green buildings in

         10  the country and a host of laws and administrative

         11  mandates designed to support green building industry

         12  and jobs.

         13                 Although this Desk is relatively new,

         14  we have begun the kind of sustained awareness and

         15  engagement efforts with green and greening

         16  industries that will pay dividends down the road.

         17  For example, the Desk is marketing opportunities for

         18  supplying the many green products and services

         19  needed to meet Local Law 86 requirements.  The

         20  growing number of public and privately built green

         21  buildings, as well as the increasing number of

         22  public and private energy conservation initiatives

         23  in the City, all create demand that must be filled

         24  by new companies or companies responding to these

         25  markets.
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          2                 Second, the Green Desk will work to

          3  build upon and grow the existing green and clean

          4  tech sector in New York City by helping to raise

          5  their profile by bringing conferences, trade shows

          6  and other industries to New York as a way to

          7  showcase the green businesses in New York City and

          8  create new synergies and opportunities for growth

          9  and expansion.

         10                 Lastly, the Desk will focus on

         11  fostering new and expanding existing green

         12  industries in New York City.  To facilitate a stable

         13  climate for all businesses entering the green

         14  market, the Green Desk will assist firms in

         15  accessing government incentives and navigating City

         16  processes.

         17                 The Desk will also look to connect

         18  local firms with universities for research and

         19  development assistance and with the venture capital

         20  community to provide a central financial support to

         21  develop new products and technologies for all stages

         22  of the supply chain.

         23                 This brings me to the last topic I

         24  would like to highlight today, the Mayor's Office of

         25  Long Term Planning and Sustainability and its
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          2  planning efforts.  The City Council, represented by

          3  Speaker Quinn and Council Member Gennaro, are valued

          4  members of the Sustainability Advisory Board, which

          5  also includes the New York City Central Labor

          6  Council, Environmental Defense, the Natural

          7  Resources Defense Council and the West Harlem

          8  Environmental Action Coalition, among others.

          9                 The Advisory Board is working with

         10  the Office to evaluate strategies that will ensure a

         11  sustainable future for our City.  Underlying all of

         12  the approaches under consideration is a strong tie

         13  to economic development.  The Advisory Board and the

         14  Mayor's Office are working to ensure that

         15  investments and goals set forth in the Long Term

         16  Plan support job creation, training initiatives and

         17  environmentally progressive policies.  We will be

         18  reporting on these efforts in more detail in the

         19  coming months.

         20                 In summary, the City is currently

         21  cultivating a green job base in New York City

         22  through its numerous projects and programs.

         23  However, we do not plan to rest on our laurels;

         24  quite the opposite.  We will continue to run the

         25  existing programs, as well as utilize the Green Desk
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          2  at EDC as a gateway for green firms looking to

          3  locate and grow in New York City.  Most importantly

          4  though, the new Mayor's Office of Long Term Planning

          5  and Sustainability is committed to addressing the

          6  very issue of this Hearing, identifying ways to link

          7  sustainable development with economic development

          8  and promote the growth of a green New York City.

          9                 I hope my testimony has been helpful.

         10    As you can see, the Administration shares your

         11  aspirations to make New York synonymous with

         12  sustainable development and we look forward to

         13  working together on achieving that goal.  I

         14  appreciate the opportunity to testify today and I'd

         15  be happy to answer any questions you may have.

         16  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you

         18  Jennifer.  Let me just recognize some other Council

         19  Members that have come in since you started.  Thank

         20  you Nick for taking care of the chairs here. Looks

         21  like we've got standing room only here.  I'm hoping

         22  everyone has a chance to sit down.  Okay, good.

         23  We're joined by David Weprin, Council Member Vann,

         24  Council Member Lanza.  We certainly appreciate

         25  everyone being here today.
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          2                 Yes, your testimony was very helpful

          3  and it's wonderful that EDC has got a great

          4  commitment to sustainability and EDC's participation

          5  in the Sustainability Advisory Committee is terrific

          6  as well and thank you for that.

          7                 Let me talk a little bit about the

          8  Green Desk. It's, of course, wonderful to hear

          9  everything that the City is doing with all of our

         10  purchasing and green building and everything that

         11  we're going to be doing that's certainly going to

         12  move industry in that direction.  But, I want to

         13  spend a lot of time, I think the prime focus of this

         14  Hearing is on the private sector, you know more

         15  green businesses, more green jobs and of course, you

         16  know, Green Desk is a great way to accomplish that.

         17  How many folks currently occupy that unit?  And,

         18  tell me a little bit more about the resources that

         19  are dedicated to the Green Desk.

         20                 MS. BECKER:  Sure.  So there's one

         21  and a half staff persons dedicated to the Green

         22  Desk, which is  --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO  And  --

         24                 MS. BECKER:  I'm sorry.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  When did that
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          2  get started?

          3                 MS. BECKER:  It was officially

          4  launched in September  '05 and it's been, the

          5  activities have been growing more recently.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  September of

          7   '05?

          8                 MS. BECKER:  Uh-huh.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, so about

         10  a year.  Do people out there, because I know that

         11  when we passed the green buildings bill I was

         12  suddenly in demand as a speaker to builders groups

         13  or whatever who wanted to know from me, of all

         14  people, like how they should be building green and

         15  how they could tap into this market.  So, people

         16  were sort of clamoring for information.  I guess, we

         17  became known, when we passed the bill, when the

         18  Council passed the bill, so they knew who we were

         19  and they reached out to us.  Do people know about

         20  the Green Desk or what steps do you take to reach

         21  out to industries that could use the services of the

         22  Green Desk?  Or, is it a situation where people have

         23  to come you and then you field their questions?

         24                 MS. BECKER:  I think it's a little

         25  bit of both, I mean, EDC, in general, you know, it's
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          2  mission is to grow business in New York City.  So,

          3  people do call EDC all the time with questions about

          4  their business and how start a business, how to grow

          5  a business in New York City.  The Client Coverage

          6  Department of EDC is the focus for that and the

          7  Green Desk is part of the Client Coverage team.  So,

          8  there's definitely people who call and there are

          9  staff available to answer questions and  --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  But, how about

         11  like conferences, that kind of thing  --

         12                 MS. BECKER:  Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  Are you in

         14  the mix, are you out there?

         15                 MS. BECKER:  Uh-huh.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  How does that

         17  happen?

         18                 MS. BECKER:  Yes.  So, actually, Saul

         19  Shapiro, who is the head of the Green Industry Desk

         20  is currently in Europe at a conference  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes, I was

         22  going to ask why the Green Desk person isn't here.

         23                 MS. BECKER:  Yup, he's, he's there

         24  actually doing what you just said, promoting New

         25  York City as a place to invest for your green
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          2  company and  --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Where is he

          4  now?

          5                 MS. BECKER:  He's in the Netherlands.

          6    They had a conference there.  He's with people

          7  from Chicago, Toronto, Belfast, Vienna, people from

          8  all over the world.  He had the opportunity to talk

          9  to representatives from 50 green companies who are

         10  looking for places to invest and open up new

         11  branches and talk to them about the merits of coming

         12  to New York City.  He told me that we actually got a

         13  very positive story in the Dutch newspaper,

         14  Financial Daily, which is akin to the Wall Street

         15  Journal here and that  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         17                 MS. BECKER:  --  Discussions are

         18  continuing.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  But, you know,

         20  I went around this morning on the tour to a company

         21  called DFB Sales, union shop, 100 union jobs, you

         22  know, trying to actually compete against, you know,

         23  a company from the Netherlands who set up shop in

         24  Canada, using non- union labor.

         25                 So, my point is, I think it's
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          2  important to attract businesses from around the

          3  world, but to have a sort of special focus on like

          4  the, you know, DFB Sales- type companies in New York

          5  City that have been for 50, 60 years, that have

          6  scores of union jobs, that are trying to make that,

          7  that are successfully making that transition to

          8  green business and are competing against other

          9  companies.

         10                 I mean, certainly, we want to give, I

         11  don't want to say an edge, but certainly as much

         12  support as we possibly can to local union companies

         13  that are here, that have been employing New Yorkers

         14  for decades and want to continue to do so.  So, if

         15  you could tell me a little bit about the outreach,

         16  maybe not so much overseas, but like Brooklyn,

         17  Queens, that kind of thing.

         18                 MS. BECKER:  Yeah, I mean, DFB is a

         19  great company. I agree.  I know them quite well and

         20  I think they're doing wonderful work here and trying

         21  to replicate that here and create more green jobs

         22  and  --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure.

         24                 MS. BECKER:  --  And more green

         25  businesses is key to the Green Desk.  What it's
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          2  really trying to do is become sort of that clearing

          3  house for information for companies that are one,

          4  trying to green their operation, what's, you know,

          5  what's sort of the market and really trying to

          6  promote the different opportunities that are coming

          7  out of Local Law 86, the environmental purchasing

          8  bills, you know, all this new demand that we're

          9  creating, you know, we need companies to meet that

         10  demand.  So, that's certainly key to the Green Desk,

         11  is promoting those opportunities.  Also, when

         12  talking to companies about navigating, you know,

         13  City processes, how do you actually sell it to the

         14  City types of things, those types of questions are

         15  certainly important.

         16                 The other thing that I, I had

         17  mentioned in my testimony, which is essential, I

         18  think, to the activities that the Green Desk is

         19  going to be doing, is really looking to connect

         20  local firms with the venture capital community and

         21  try to infuse that really needed financial support

         22  to help local firms, you know, take the next step

         23  and to meet this new market.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  How are you

         25  doing that with the venture capital people?
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          2                 MS. BECKER:  The, this is, this is

          3  planned activities that we're, we're starting now,

          4  but, you know, reaching out to representatives in

          5  the venture capital community and talking to them,

          6  showcasing different companies here.

          7                 The other thing I wanted to mention

          8  was that EDC is going to be re-launching its website

          9  in the next few months and there's going to be a

         10  green industry page on there that will act as a, an

         11  on- line clearing house of resources, so that people

         12  can find that information quickly.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Now you've

         14  indicated that you're doing local outreach to New

         15  York City- based companies and you're presumably

         16  going to conferences and trade shows and that kind

         17  of thing.  Is the EDC in the business of actually

         18  being the organizer of these kinds of forums or

         19  whatever?

         20                 It's one thing to go and participate

         21  and to make people know about EDC; it's another to

         22  be the leader in that and say that, you know, we, as

         23  a city, are committed to this sector and we're going

         24  to organize something where we believe we've got a

         25  good read on where these businesses are and what

                                                            35

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  they do. We're going to figure out ways to bring

          3  them together creatively under the EDC banner and

          4  we, as a city, are going to make sure that they know

          5  everything that there is to know about various

          6  incentives and inducements.  What are you doing in

          7  that regard?

          8                 MS. BECKER:  As I, as I mentioned,

          9  the EDC Desk is relatively new and we are rolling

         10  out these types of activities currently.  One thing

         11  that we are looking to do is actually bring sort of

         12  the, the well known green conferences here, so that

         13  local firms can participate in those conferences as

         14  well, that bring people from all over  --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  How's that

         16  going?  You have them  --

         17                 MS. BECKER:  Our conversations have

         18  started with the, the convention bureau and talking

         19  to them about different activities.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I'll talk to

         21  these people. Just, I'll, I will call them, you know

         22    --

         23                 MS. BECKER:  I can get  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Tell me whom to

         25  call and  --
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          2                 MS. BECKER:  I can get back to you on

          3   --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  And I will

          5  call them.

          6                 MS. BECKER:  --  On, on the status of

          7  those efforts  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I can be very

          9  persuasive, yes.

         10                 MS. BECKER:  I think that would be

         11  great.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I'm from the

         13  government, I'm here to help.  Okay.  I think I got

         14  it, here it goes.  Can you be just a little more

         15  specific about what the Green Industry Desk is doing

         16  to market opportunities for supplying green products

         17  and services to meet Local Law 86?

         18                 MS. BECKER:  Yeah, with the, with the

         19  website and moving forward, we'll be, talking,

         20  promoting the different opportunities.  So, as

         21  projects arise and, you know, a building is being

         22  designed and there's going to be different products

         23  and services, we want to be able to promote that to

         24  local firms and say that this is an opportunity that

         25  you should be looking out for.
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          2                 So, I think the promotional will take

          3  place in various forms, for people calling us, us,

          4  you know, promoting in different ways, the website,

          5  conferences.  You know, we, the Client Coverage

          6  Department at EDC works with businesses throughout

          7  the City, so we have a wide network of contacts and

          8  we'll be using them to promote these opportunities.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  What

         10  additional policies can the City implement, going

         11  forward, to promote this green business sector and

         12  what obstacles, if any, does the EDC anticipate

         13  regarding the growth of green manufacturing and

         14  green collar jobs in New York City?

         15                 MS. BECKER:  To address the first

         16  part of your question, what else we can be doing, I

         17  think, again, when we talked about Local Law 86 and

         18  the environmental purchasing laws, I think Hugo Neu

         19  is a big investment that I think will spur a lot of

         20  new business activity.  There's projects that EDC

         21  has been involved with that are not part of Local

         22  Law 86, that are green buildings that promote the

         23  needs  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.  I'm

         25  talking about new policies, you know, what we're
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          2  doing, I'm talking about new.

          3                 MS. BECKER:  Well, I think what the

          4  Mayor's Office of Long Term Planning and

          5  Sustainability, as I mentioned and as I know  --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

          7                 MS. BECKER:  --  You guys have been a

          8  wonderful representative in that effort, are

          9  addressing this right now and looking at what are

         10  sort of the comprehensive ways that we can address

         11  this and make our City a green City and promote new

         12  services and products to meet them.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes and the

         14  other part of my questions was about the obstacles

         15   --

         16                 MS. BECKER:  Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  We want to,

         18  you know, if you could articulate those, so that we

         19  could  --

         20                 MS. BECKER:  Sure.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  Jointly

         22  conquer them. How does that sound?  That sounds good

         23  to me.

         24                 MS. BECKER:  We have some obstacles

         25  for manufacturing in particular and I, you know, I
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          2  think it is difficult to be a manufacturer in New

          3  York City.  It's an extremely high cost environment.

          4    But, it is a huge market and the, I think the

          5  challenges for being green in New York City,

          6  actually the green aspect gives local companies a

          7  competitive advantage because, as you know, part of

          8  green building there's a commitment to procure

          9  materials from a short distance from the building

         10  site  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         12                 MS. BECKER:  --  And so with that

         13  increased demand, I think new companies will see

         14  that this is a market for them to enter and the more

         15  the City can do to promote that, with its own, with

         16  its own building, with its own policies and also

         17  working with the private sector, the more that

         18  demand will be shown to the local market.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Well, I'll just

         20  say that I got a very, you know, although it was

         21  just the morning, we went to two very different

         22  firms coming from very, very different orbits, they

         23  were, and it was interesting just to get some

         24  insights from them into the challenges that they

         25  face that I wasn't aware of.  Certainly, I would
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          2  commend the professionals in EDC to just kind of go

          3  around the City and see what it's like to be these

          4  folks and to see how they're being successful

          5  notwithstanding these obstacles and figuring out

          6  what we can do as a government to help them.

          7                 MS. BECKER:  Yeah, EDC staff, the

          8  Green Desk staff has actually started to do that and

          9  meet with  --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Well, you've

         11  got like one and a half people, right?

         12                 MS. BECKER:  Yeah.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

         14                 MS. BECKER:  But  --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Next year in

         16  the budget process, you've got to be good to

         17  yourself, okay?  You know that's what you've got to

         18  do.  I'm just saying, you know, just it's something

         19  that I'm interested in and I know you are too.

         20                 As we sort of look at New York City's

         21  green marketplace and all the products and services

         22  and jobs, has EDC tried to make any current sort of

         23  overall assessment of what the, I guess for lack of

         24  a better word, like the value of that is? Like, what

         25  are we looking at in terms of the entirety of the
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          2  green marketplace and do you have a scope of where

          3  you think it's going to go and how EDC is going to

          4  help sort of get it there?

          5                 So, it's here.  It's going to be

          6  here.  Do you know how big this is in dollars and

          7  how big this could be and what the glide path

          8  between this and this is?  It's going to be

          9  difficult, I guess, on the record to sort of put

         10  that on the record, the hand movements or whatever,

         11  but.  We're joined by our next witness, Borough

         12  President Carrion, which I look forward to hearing

         13  from you.  He got a kick out of that gesture, so

         14  whatever.

         15                 MS. BECKER:  To my knowledge, we have

         16  not put an absolute dollar amount or number amount

         17  to that yet.  But, I think the, the growth, the

         18  potential's really going to come out of the Mayor's

         19  Office of Long Term Planning and Sustainability, in

         20  terms of the policies we've put in place and the

         21  amount of economic activity that that will generate.

         22    So, you know, with the discussions of the Advisory

         23  Board, I think that that discussion will take place

         24  there.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Something that
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          2  also might be interesting is the total amount of

          3  money that the City is spending on green products

          4  and services.  That should be something that we

          5  could relatively easily get our hand on and see how

          6  big that is.  Has that been done?  Do we know that?

          7  No, you can just provide that to us.

          8                 MS. BECKER:  Yeah, I can get back to

          9  you.  In the, I have the numbers for fiscal year

         10   '06 with me here and the numbers that I had given

         11  in my testimony.  But, I can get back to you on

         12  additional years.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         14  Jennifer, I'd just like to thank you for your

         15  testimony here today, for your answers to the

         16  questions and for your dedication to this issue. I

         17  know you're relatively new in the job here, but I

         18  just thank you for your great commitment to this

         19  issue.  I look forward to working with you.

         20                 MS. BECKER:  Likewise.  Thank  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you

         22  Jennifer.

         23                 MS. BECKER:  --  You very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  The next

         25  witness is a former Member of this Committee, former
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          2  Member of the Committee on Environmental Protection,

          3  Borough President Adolfo Carrion. Pleasure to see

          4  you Mr. Borough President.  We look forward to

          5  hearing from the Borough President.  Hopefully,

          6  you're going to tell us a little bit about your  --

          7                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  It's not

          8  easy being green?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes.  And, we

         10  appreciate  --

         11                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  Mr.

         12  Chairman, I, in honor of this Hearing, I wore my

         13  green tie today, so, and I see you're dressed in

         14  green as well  --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And a green

         16  shirt.

         17                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  --  And

         18  some of the staff is also, also has green.  That's

         19  very good.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Mr. Borough

         21  President, I guess, we have a practice of swearing

         22  in witnesses and I know you wouldn't want to be

         23  treated any differently, so we'll do the oath for

         24  you as well, as we do for all the other witnesses

         25   --
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          2                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  It would

          3  be an honor.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  Counsel

          5  to the Committee, Donna De Costanzo, this is a big

          6  one now, so make sure you get it right.

          7                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  I'm

          8  getting sworn in right near City Hall, this is good.

          9                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Please raise

         10  your right hand.  In the testimony that you are

         11  about to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the

         12  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         13                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  Yes,

         14  absolutely.

         15                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you Mr.

         17  Borough President  --

         18                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  I do.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  We really

         20  appreciate you being here today.

         21                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  I haven't

         22  said that in a while  --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

         24                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  --  About

         25  13 and a half years, I do.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Please.

          3                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  Mr.

          4  Chairman, thank you very much and Members of the

          5  Committee, my colleagues in government and all of

          6  the support staff.  I'd like to thank you and Tom

          7  White, who, I guess, is in and out at this point, as

          8  well as the Members of the Council's Environmental

          9  Protection and Economic Development Committees for

         10  the opportunity to testify at this Oversight

         11  Hearing.

         12                 Before I begin, I'd like to recognize

         13  you for your leadership in the fight to protect our

         14  environment and for bringing attention to the

         15  importance of green building in New York City.  When

         16  I served in this body, I had great admiration for

         17  you when you were working as, as support for the

         18  Committee and then when you ran for City Council, I

         19  was very encouraged by the fact that you put

         20  yourself out there before the community and said, I

         21  want to continue what I started and  --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you Mr.

         23  Borough President.

         24                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  --  And

         25  you've done that, so.  Also to Tom White, let him,
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          2  just tell him I said nice things about him.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You bet, you

          4  bet.

          5                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  I'm here

          6  today to ask you to partner with me to promote green

          7  development in New York City.  I have a four part

          8  plan which includes a green sales tax exemption on

          9  the manufacturing side, a green tax credit, a green

         10  education initiative and a streamlining initiative

         11  for green funding.  We all must understand that the

         12  only way to successfully promote this new type of

         13  development is by making it not only good for the

         14  environment, but also good for the wallet, for the

         15  bottom line.

         16                 Green has become a catch all phrase.

         17  So, for the purposes of this discussion, and we know

         18  that the science is out on a lot of this, I have

         19  limited it to mean construction materials that are

         20  environmentally friendly.  Environmentally

         21  responsible products typically fall under a number

         22  of categories, such as wood, paint, construction

         23  adhesives, carpet, architectural sealants and

         24  furniture.

         25                 In the Bronx, we've been working hard
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          2  to promote green development.  I have provided

          3  nearly $7 million for the construction of eight

          4  green buildings throughout the borough.  I have even

          5  started to turn my own office building, where we

          6  are, in the old courthouse that was built in 1930,

          7  into a green building by installing a green roof on

          8  it, on the roof this past September.

          9                 Additionally, I've established the

         10  Bronx Initiative for Energy and the Environment to

         11  provide interest free loans and grants to Bronx

         12  building owners who use energy and, energy-

         13  efficient and environmentally friendly measures in

         14  their properties, whether it is green roof, solar

         15  technology or simply retrofitting a boiler system.

         16                 Through this initiative, I've

         17  provided numerous free energy surveys to businesses

         18  to reduce their energy costs. In addition, we've

         19  organized two City- wide energy conferences targeted

         20  to developers, architects and contractors.

         21                 It's becoming clear that we're facing

         22  a dangerous problem in the near future, if not

         23  already, I believe.  According to the U.S.

         24  Department of Energy's Center for Sustainable

         25  Development, buildings consume 40 percent of the
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          2  world's total energy, 25 percent of it is, of it's

          3  wood harvest and 16 percent of it is water.  We can

          4  no longer sit back and pretend that these problems

          5  are in the distant future.  We must make development

          6  environmentally friendly or, as the former Vice-

          7  President, Al Gore, might say, we will soon be

          8  facing a very inconvenient truth.

          9                 There are many benefits to green

         10  development.  We know them, your folks will come to

         11  this microphone and before this Committee and talk

         12  about them.  For example, commercial buildings

         13  employing green building materials see an average

         14  reduction in energy use exceeding 30 percent and a

         15  significant improvement in the health and

         16  productivity of their employees in those facilities.

         17                 I recently released a report

         18  regarding green development and green manufacturing,

         19  which you have in your hands today, it's entitled,

         20  It's Not Easy Being Green.  The report examined the

         21  current status of the New York City building-

         22  related manufacturing industry, the benefits of

         23  green development and ways to promote green

         24  development and green manufacturing.

         25                 This report is a first step in making
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          2  green development the norm rather than the

          3  exception.  In it, I identified several key hurdles

          4  for green development that must be overcome, the

          5  high cost and the lack of availability of green

          6  products, the need for education regarding these

          7  products and finally, the difficulty with accessing

          8  these special programs once you indicate that you're

          9  interested.

         10                 So, I want to thank you and the New

         11  York City Council for the steps you've already taken

         12  to encourage green building, including the

         13  $242,000.00 that you recently budgeted to support

         14  green manufacturing initiatives.  I also fully

         15  support Local Law 86, which this Council passed

         16  recently and I look forward to its implementation.

         17  Congratulations on a good piece of legislation.

         18  This legislation, as you know, will require all

         19  buildings with construction costs exceeding $2

         20  million in City funding to incorporate green

         21  building initiatives and strategies into their

         22  design.  This, naturally, will have an impact on our

         23  City and on our environment.

         24                 I believe more can be done to

         25  encourage green development and that's why I'm here.
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          2    Surveys conducted in New York City indicate that

          3  developers are interested in using green materials

          4  if given enough incentives.  They made that very

          5  clear. If we want to be successful in promoting

          6  green development, we must ensure that the cost

          7  differential between green materials and non- green

          8  materials is negligible.

          9                 Therefore, I'm inviting advocacy

         10  groups to partner with my office to study the

         11  feasibility of enacting a sales tax exemption for

         12  developers purchasing green materials and a tax

         13  credit for manufacturers who produce green materials

         14  for these developers.  We will also research how

         15  government can best educate and market green tax

         16  incentives to developers and manufacturers and push

         17  for efforts to streamline the application process

         18  for these tax incentives.

         19                 Just, you know, off text for a

         20  second, what we found is, in our conversations with

         21  people in the industry, that this is really the

         22  problem and that until we create the scale

         23  necessary, you know, the economies, it's a

         24  disincentive for them. They want to do it, but

         25  they're also watching the bottom line.
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          2                 So, we can no longer ignore the

          3  responsibility of pursuing environmentally

          4  sustainable development.  As we continue to grow our

          5  cities, we must understand that economic viability

          6  and environmental sensibility are not mutually

          7  exclusive.  We must create a set of conditions in

          8  which future generations will enjoy cities that are

          9  both economically strong and environmentally sound.

         10                 I welcome the opportunity to work

         11  with the Council on this four part plan.  Just to

         12  recap, a green sales tax exemption; a green tax

         13  credit; and it can be applied to improvements to the

         14  facility building capacity to equipment, et cetera;

         15  an education initiative to have, essentially, people

         16  understand what the heck we're talking about; and

         17  then facilitating the governmental process, you

         18  know, the application process, the access to, to the

         19  funding that's available, to the credits that are

         20  available, to the incentives that are available on

         21  the part of government.

         22                 I simply want to thank you for this

         23  opportunity and again thank you for this very

         24  important work that you're doing.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I want to thank
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          2  you, Mr. Borough President, in a special way for

          3  having a great vision on this.  I guess I'll start

          4  from the end of your testimony and work back to the

          5  front.  Let us say that your ideas and the ideas of

          6  other, you know, like- minded visionaries have

          7  already gotten recognition here at the Council and

          8  that there is legislation being crafted now that

          9  would embrace some or all of these concepts.  We

         10  greatly appreciate you being a leader on that,

         11  certainly, more to follow  --

         12                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  Thank

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  On that and

         15  that's great.  I want to talk a little bit more

         16  about this Bronx Initiative for Energy and the

         17  Environment.  Very intriguing how you did this.  How

         18  is it funded?  How does it work?  As I read it here,

         19  it certainly sounds like something that I, and I'm

         20  sure others here, want to hear a little more about.

         21                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  Sure.

         22  You probably recall when we had the four turbines

         23  built in the Bronx by the New York Power Authority.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         25                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  At that
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          2  time, one of the things that was exacted from the

          3  New York Power Authority was several mitigations for

          4  the community.  One of which was to create a fund

          5  that could start to reduce the green house effect

          6  and reduce consumption, make buildings and

          7  businesses more efficient.

          8                 Out of all of the things that came

          9  out of there, one piece was a fund, a two- part, a

         10  two- part initiative, one was a revolving loan fund

         11  of $2.1 million that, essentially, if you, if you're

         12  an apartment building owner or whatever, whatever

         13  kind of building, and you want to reduce your heat,

         14  your consumption of energy by new window systems, by

         15  a new roof that makes sense and captures heat and

         16  whatever, if you wanted to make your boiler system

         17  more efficient and upgraded, if you wanted to

         18  weatherize your building, you come to us and you

         19  say, this is what we want to do.  We work  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And us would be

         21  your office, right?

         22                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

         24                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  It would

         25  be Bronx Initiative for Energy and the Environment
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          2   --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, okay.

          4                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  --  Which

          5  is, which is an arm of the Bronx overall Economic

          6  Development Corporation.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

          8                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  What we,

          9  the administrator of the training and the support

         10  for the building owner is the Association for Energy

         11  and the Environment, which is --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  What was that

         13  again?

         14                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:

         15  Association for Energy Affordability, which is a

         16  non- profit organization that's funded by the state

         17  and funded by us  --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         19                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  --  And

         20  has, and gets some private funding, specifically to

         21  help reduce energy waste and consumption.  So, they

         22  have, with funds from our office and some other

         23  partners in government, on Bruckner Boulevard, a

         24  training center for landlords of small buildings and

         25  building owners and business owners and even
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          2  homeowners.  You can go into this training center

          3  and learn about the different heating systems, learn

          4  about different window systems, learn about all of

          5  this energy stuff.  That's the scientific term,

          6  stuff.

          7                 So, we lend you, if it's a half a

          8  million dollars or a couple hundred thousand dollars

          9  to retrofit, we lend it to you, zero interest and

         10  then you just pay it back.  So, the fund just keeps

         11  replenishing and it is there, not, obviously, not to

         12  make a profit, but to help in the, achieving the

         13  objective.

         14                 The other side of this fund, which is

         15  another two and a half, two and change million

         16  dollars, that is, was dedicated to grants and we

         17  granted a bunch of stuff.  We did seven green roofs

         18  so far.  We have seven in the hopper and we've done,

         19  we've done a green roof on a parochial school, on a

         20  courthouse, on apartment buildings and also,

         21  photovoltaic panels and solar panels and all that.

         22                 This fund, the hope, you know, and I

         23  guess now it's on the record, the hope is that our

         24  partner, the New York Power Authority, will not,

         25  will continue to support this fund and continue to
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          2  support the grants that we're trying to put out

          3  there.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure.

          5                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  The other

          6  piece that we did was we planted 15,000 trees in the

          7  borough, which is unprecedented  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes, that's a

          9  lot of trees.

         10                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  --  And a

         11  lot of those little green spaces, green streets.

         12  Well, you know, the Parks Department has their green

         13  streets and then we created a, our own project,

         14  where we could go into a neighborhood and where you

         15  had an old concrete environment, like a small

         16  triangle in the middle of a traffic circle  --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, sure.

         18                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  --  And

         19  we would say, you know, why don't we green this

         20  space, plant a tree.  The community, we would work

         21  with the community, choose the trees and the type of

         22  foliage they want.  Obviously, that is also

         23  extremely beneficial.

         24                 We worked with the real estate

         25  industry, especially with the residential landlords,
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          2  so that wherever we could pop a tree into, poke a

          3  tree into the sidewalk in front of an apartment

          4  house, we would ask them, well, what kind of tree

          5  would you like, these are the best kinds for the

          6  conditions.  I'm becoming a green expert man.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  It certainly

          8  sounds  --

          9                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  And the

         10  total amount was $6.25 million  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         12                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  --  No

         13  whispers. Thanks.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Well, thank

         15  you.  I'll probably come back for questions, but

         16  first I want to recognize that we're joined by

         17  Council Member Melissa Mark Viverito.  Thank you for

         18  being here.  I appreciate that.  The Chairman of our

         19  Finance Committee, David Weprin, has a question.

         20  David.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN:  Thank you

         22  Borough President Carrion and thank you for your

         23  years of service and future service anticipated.  I

         24  assume you've met with Kermit the Frog's attorneys

         25  about your new publication.
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          2                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  Yes, yes.

          3    We had a conversation with Kermit himself.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN:  Okay, just

          5  clearing, putting on my legal head.  Chairman

          6  Gennaro referred to various legislative proposals

          7  regarding tax credits and tax exemptions and I, too,

          8  want to join in that.  Maybe we can do some kind of

          9  coordination since the tax proposals will come to

         10  the Finance Committee, which I Chair, and I

         11  certainly want to, you know, be involved in this, be

         12  as supportive as possible.  So, maybe if we can kind

         13  of coordinate with Chairman Gennaro, a number of the

         14  legislative proposals that are currently pending.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  By all means,

         16  sure, sure.  I mean, getting support of the Chairman

         17  of the Finance Committee is a good thing, okay.  So,

         18  absolutely, absolutely.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN:  Okay, great.

         20  Thank you.

         21                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  Well,

         22  Chairman Weprin, let me say that, you know, I mean

         23  one of the questions that will be put before all of

         24  us is, for, you know, what the life of an exemption

         25  would be, what the life of, you know, of a credit
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          2  would be, how long do, what's the estimate of how

          3  long it would take to jumpstart that, that green

          4  manufacturing economies so that it makes sense for

          5  the marketplace.  I have no idea, to be honest with

          6  you.

          7                 I think that's the reason I'm here is

          8  to say, hey, this is important.  I think we need to

          9  consider it.  We've done it in another industries,

         10  where we jumpstarted an industry and then it create

         11  the scale over time.  So, sunset provisions and size

         12  of credits and all that, I guess, is going to be the

         13  work that you and this Committee will do.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN:  Thank you.

         15                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  Thank

         16  you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you

         18  David.  I really have no further questions, other

         19  than to, once again, commend you for really starting

         20  a model program there in the Bronx.  It's, all those

         21  green roofs, all those trees, all this outreach to

         22  people at all levels to get them as smart as

         23  possible and giving them the, not only the

         24  information, but the access to capital to do what

         25  has to be done, is a really a terrific thing.  It's
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          2  my hope that it will serve for the model for the

          3  whole City.  So, I really appreciate all that you're

          4  doing.  It's just great to see someone who was a

          5  Member of this Committee go on to become a Borough

          6  President and to really do great things with  --

          7                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  Thank

          8  you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  These

         10  wonderful environmental issues.  So, I thank you.

         11  It's great to have you here.

         12                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  Well, Mr.

         13  Chairman and Members of the Committee, thank you.

         14  Thank you for your hospitality.  I, I'm often

         15  reminding people these days that we have three

         16  years, one month and several days left in office and

         17  we have a lot of work to do, which speaks to the

         18  question of term limits, which is not a subject for

         19  this Committee.

         20                 But, those of us who have served for

         21  periods of eight years understand that when you

         22  start something, it takes a little while for you to

         23  begin to put the infrastructure together. We started

         24  to do that.  I think that the next phase of this

         25  will be handed to the next City Council and our hope
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          2  is that they will continue to do as good work as you

          3  and your colleagues have done to bring attention to

          4  this issue.  I just want to say to all, have a very

          5  Happy Thanksgiving, many blessings  --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You too.

          7                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  --  To

          8  you and your family.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You too, all

         10  the best.

         11                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:  Thank

         12  you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         14  Okay, it's our pleasure, you bet.  Our next witness

         15  and we thank you for being patient, John Filippelli

         16  of the USEPA, John Filippelli of the USEPA.  We're

         17  very gratified that EPA has chosen to be represented

         18  at a number of recent Hearings.  We truly appreciate

         19  our partnership with the EPA and all their good

         20  folks who have graced us with their wisdom at our

         21  Hearings.  We also like to hang around with Berry

         22  Shore as well.  So, every opportunity we get to hang

         23  around with Berry is a good day.  So, Mr.

         24  Filippelli, we appreciate you being here today.

         25  Donna will give the oath and then you can proceed
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          2  with your testimony.

          3                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Please raise

          4  your right hand.  In the testimony that you are

          5  about to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the

          6  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          7                 MR. FILIPPELLI:  I do.

          8                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You've got to

         10  press the button until the light goes off and then

         11  speak right into the, until the red light on the

         12  button is off.

         13                 MR. FILIPPELLI:  Okay, red light's

         14  off.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay and then

         16   --

         17                 MR. FILIPPELLI:  There we go.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  You speak

         19  right into the microphone, like I'm doing, and it

         20  will come out clear  --

         21                 MR. FILIPPELLI:  Great.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  That way.

         23                 MR. FILIPPELLI:  Thank you Chairman

         24  Gennaro, Chairman White and the Members of the two

         25  Committees, for the invitation to appear here today.
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          2    I am John Filippelli, Chief of the Strategic

          3  Planning and Multi- Media Programs Branch at EPA,

          4  Region Two.  I appreciate the opportunity to

          5  highlight EPA's perspective about capitalizing on

          6  markets for green products and service by promoting

          7  green manufacturing and green collar jobs in New

          8  York City.

          9                 EPA applauds New York City in its

         10  continuing efforts to improve the environment

         11  through thoughtful deliberation on significant

         12  environmental issues.  Today, the City Council is

         13  taking another important step forward in exploring

         14  ways to achieve environmentally sustainable economic

         15  growth.

         16                 We at EPA have longed believed that a

         17  healthy environment and sound economy go hand- in-

         18  hand.  The matter you are considering today is also

         19  an important aspect of the metamorphosis of

         20  environmental protection from simply controlling and

         21  cleaning up pollution to environmental stewardship.

         22                 As stated in a November, 2005 report

         23  to EPA Administrator, Stephen Johnson, for more than

         24  three decades, our country has made steady

         25  environmental progress.  We have put laws into place

                                                            64

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  to protect our people and natural resources from

          3  many types of risks.  Along the way, we've also

          4  learned a great deal about how to achieve our goals.

          5    We no longer focus solely on controlling

          6  pollution.

          7                 Today, EPA and other organizations in

          8  the U.S. And around the world are thinking more

          9  holistically about how to achieve sustainability,

         10  widely defined as the ability to meet the needs of

         11  the present without compromising the ability of

         12  future generations to meet their own needs.

         13                 Along with this evolution in thinking

         14  has come a realization in improving the

         15  environmental quality can lead to higher quality of

         16  life and new products and markets that boost

         17  economic competitiveness.  For many, sustainability

         18  is now the end goal, one that could assure a more

         19  secure future that is naturally pursued through

         20  environmental stewardship.

         21                 The EPA recognizes and encourages a

         22  variety of ways to pursue green manufacturing and

         23  green collar jobs.  Waste materials can be used as a

         24  source of raw materials in manufacturing new

         25  products.  This practice, which has a long track
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          2  record in paper, metal, glass, plastic, agriculture

          3  and other industries, reduces the need for waste

          4  disposal and raw materials extraction.

          5                 In a related approach, surplus

          6  underutilizes it, underutilized and scrap materials,

          7  can be transferred between businesses through

          8  materials exchanges, thereby reducing disposal costs

          9  for some firms while supplying others with a source

         10  of raw material.

         11                 Taking a pollution prevention

         12  approach, many businesses have reduced the amount of

         13  toxic materials used, waste generated and energy

         14  consumed through their manufacturing, shipping and

         15  management processes.  Additionally, job training

         16  can be accomplished through environmentally (sic)

         17  programs, ranging from refurbishing electronics

         18  equipment for use in schools to training people to

         19  work in the environmental field.

         20                 Any economic effort is subject to the

         21  law of supply and demand.  Accordingly, I will touch

         22  on some of the elements that pertain to developing

         23  markets for green products and services.  In

         24  general, market development depends on educating the

         25  intended customer, as well as developing a critical
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          2  level of purchasing activity.

          3                 One potential area to establish at

          4  least initial demand is among government agencies

          5  and large institutions. These are the entities that

          6  have the largest block of purchasing power and wield

          7  significant influence to shape and drive the market.

          8    Additionally, they often have the management and

          9  resource capacity to evaluate whether new products

         10  or services can meet their needs.

         11                 For example, the federal government

         12  is the single largest consumer in the United States,

         13  and perhaps the world, spending over $200 billion

         14  annually on a wide variety of products and services.

         15    The government's purchases and use of products and

         16  services leave a large environmental footprint.

         17  Through its purchasing decisions, the federal

         18  government can minimize environmental impacts while

         19  giving a boost to producers of environmentally

         20  preferable products and services.

         21                 The federal government began changing

         22  its procurement activities with Executive Order

         23  13101, which required EPA to be the lead for the

         24  purchase of products with a maximum practical

         25  recycled content for certain items.  The Executive
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          2  Order further directed federal agencies to go beyond

          3  recycled content and adopt more comprehensive

          4  Environmentally Preferable Purchasing approaches.

          5                 Environmentally Preferable Products

          6  and Services are defined as those which have a

          7  lesser or reduced effect on human health and the

          8  environment when compared to other products and

          9  services that serve the same purpose.  This

         10  comparison may consider raw materials acquisition,

         11  production, manufacturing, packaging, distribution,

         12  reuse, operation, maintenance or disposal.

         13                 To further this type of procurement,

         14  EPA, as the designated lead, developed a suite of

         15  tools to help agencies prevent waste and pollution

         16  by considering environmental impacts, along with

         17  price and performance, when deciding what to buy.

         18  This tool can be found at our EPA website that's

         19  listed in the testimony.

         20                 To encourage new green product, new

         21  green products market, EPA recently developed a tool

         22  to aid in responsible purchase of electronics

         23  equipment, named the Electronic Product

         24  Environmental Assessment Tool or EPEAT.  We love our

         25  acronyms. It is designated to evaluate environmental
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          2  performance of computer desktops, laptops and

          3  monitors by make, by make and model number

          4  throughout their life cycle.  It also includes a set

          5  of environmental performance criteria for assessing

          6  these products, as well as the management system for

          7  their application and maintenance.  These tools will

          8  help drive the market to create a demand for green

          9  products.  The new tool is now ready for use at a

         10  website www.epeat.net.

         11                 We'd also like to mention

         12  partnerships as an effective tool.  In the past, EPA

         13  has partnered with both New York City, State and

         14  City agencies, as well as not- for- profits, to

         15  create pilot projects designed to demonstrate

         16  improved use of existing environmental resources,

         17  thus shrinking the environmental footprint.

         18                 Examples of these have ultimately

         19  resulted in a materials exchange, such as Materials

         20  for the Arts and New York WasteMatch.  We have

         21  supported the efforts of the Industrial Technology

         22  Assistance Corporation to promote the principles of

         23  a sound approach to green construction practices to

         24  many involved sectors, such as architects and

         25  construction companies.  The City has joined with us
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          2  to encourage green building design through a

          3  competition that has gone through two cycles.

          4                 We fully recognize that New York

          5  State and City and State have independently

          6  developed regulations and mechanisms to further

          7  green procurement and services requiring that,

          8  requirements that are critical to the growing green

          9  product market.  In the support of these efforts,

         10  EPA can offer technical assistance through a wide

         11  variety of voluntary programs which include:

         12                 Performance track, which challenges

         13  industries and businesses to achieve ambitious

         14  environmental goals;

         15                 The Green Suppliers Network, which

         16  encourages firms to buy from suppliers who use

         17  environmentally sound manufacturing and procurement

         18  strategies;

         19                 Sector Strategies, which encourage

         20  sound environmental practices for numerous economic

         21  sectors such as ports, construction, ship building

         22  and repair, colleges and universities, chemical

         23  manufacturing and many more.  We also have a website

         24  for this www.epa.gov/sectors;

         25                 There's also the Environmental
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          2  Resource Conservation Challenge program, which

          3  includes four main areas: Increasing recycling of

          4  municipal solid waste to 35 percent nationwide  --

          5  I understand New York City has a, New York State and

          6  New York City have, is, far exceeded that goal  --

          7  increase beneficial use of secondary materials,

          8  including the use of construction and demolition

          9  debris and coal ash in new construction, reduction

         10  of the use of priority/toxic chemicals and green

         11  electronics management.

         12                 A listing of EPA's numerous other

         13  partnership programs can be found at

         14  epa.gov/partners.

         15                 Finally, EPA, other federal agencies,

         16  local job training organizations, community

         17  colleges, labor groups and others have established

         18  partnerships to develop long- terms plans for

         19  fostering workplace development through

         20  environmental training, ensure the recruitment of

         21  trainees from socio economically disadvantaged

         22  communities, provide quality worker training and

         23  allow residents an opportunity to qualify for jobs

         24  as a result of Brownfields efforts.

         25                 As an example, in 2005, EPA selected
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          2  STRIVE/East Harlem Employment Services,

          3  Incorporated, for a job training grant.  STRIVE

          4  plans to train 80 students, place at least 51 in

          5  environmental jobs and track students for two years.

          6    The nine week training program includes course

          7  work in hazardous materials handling, lead and

          8  asbestos abatement and indoor air quality. More

          9  information about this program is available at

         10  epa.gov/region02/superfund/brownfields.

         11                 We welcome the opportunity to work

         12  with the City on furthering these goals.  Again, I

         13  would like to thank the Chairmen and Members of your

         14  respective Committees for inviting me to provide

         15  testimony today.  Please let me know if you have any

         16  questions or if EPA can be of assistance to the City

         17  of New York in this important effort to encourage

         18  environmentally sustainable businesses in New York

         19  City and beyond.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you Mr.

         21  Filippelli.  I do want to recognize that we're

         22  joined by Council Member de Blasio and Council

         23  Member Yassky, both from Brooklyn.  Okay.  I just

         24  have a couple of brief questions. You stated that

         25  the federal government spends over $200 billion
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          2  annually on products and services.  Do you have any

          3  sense of how much money the federal government spend

          4  annually on green products and services?

          5                 MR. FILIPPELLI:  No, I don't.  When I

          6  heard you ask that question with the representative

          7  from the City, I  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You knew it was

          9  coming and I  --

         10                 MR. FILIPPELLI:  I knew  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  Didn't tell

         12  you.  Okay, good.

         13                 MR. FILIPPELLI:  --  It was coming.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

         15                 MR. FILIPPELLI:  But we could get

         16  back to you with that information.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  We appreciate

         18  that.  Is there any federal funding available for

         19  green manufacturing and green collar jobs in New

         20  York City?  Any kind of federal inducements,

         21  initiatives or whatever that we could?

         22                 MR. FILIPPELLI:  You're talking about

         23  financial?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Whatever you've

         25  got.
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          2                 MR. FILIPPELLI:  Okay.  We do have a

          3  couple of grant programs that are run annually for

          4  pollution prevention programs, pollution source

          5  reduction programs and solid waste. They're offered

          6  on an annual cycle.  Typically it's, the grant

          7  program is, the RFP is announced in, on our website

          8  and elsewhere.  But, we could, through, through

          9  Berry, who we  --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, sure.

         11                 MR. FILIPPELLI:  --  Work closely

         12  with also, get some information to you when programs

         13  became available.  They are competitive, but a lot

         14  of the efforts I heard about today seem like the

         15  kind of things that may fit the programs.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  No, this is

         17  wonderful.  We would certainly welcome that

         18  collaboration and also just your coming here today

         19  and letting people know about these various

         20  resources that are already out there is just

         21  wonderful that you're doing this and you have all

         22  these resources available. We're very grateful for

         23  that and we look forward to ongoing collaboration

         24  with EPA.

         25                 Now, we have a bunch of folks getting
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          2  into the mix, you know, we have the EDC doing their

          3  Green Desk, we have the, you know, Mayor's Advisory

          4  Committee and lots of entities are coming forward to

          5  try to make a positive outcome and I think there's

          6  going to be a lot of collaboration.  As we've

          7  indicated, we've got legislation here, at the

          8  Council, so a lot is going on and we'll do our best

          9  to make sure that we all stay touch and we're all

         10  going in the same direction.  Thank you very much

         11  for being here today, to you particularly and to all

         12  of EPA by extension.  We're just grateful that you

         13  are here today and shared this testimony with us,

         14  appreciate it.

         15                 MR. FILIPPELLI:  Yeah, thanks for the

         16  invite and Happy Thanksgiving.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, you bet.

         18  We're going to call our first panel.  We have Adam

         19  Friedman of the New York Industrial Retention

         20  Network, Ed Ott of the Central Labor Council and

         21  Miquela Craytor of Sustainable South Bronx.

         22                 We've come to that point in the

         23  Hearing where we have an abundance of witnesses, but

         24  not an abundance of time. We're not going to pull

         25  out the clock, but we're just asking folks to sort
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          2  of hit their main issues.  I know, we just don't

          3  have the room for that long.  I know that Mr. Ott

          4  has a meeting, so once this panel is sworn, I'm

          5  going to ask that Mr. Ott go first.  Ed, once you

          6  finish your testimony, if you want to excuse

          7  yourself from the panel  --

          8                 MR. OTT:  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  We're just

         10  grateful to have you.  What we'll do, we'll do sort

         11  of a group oath thing and then Ed can commence with

         12  his testimony.  Okay, I'm just, you know, okay.

         13  Donna, here we go.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Please raise

         15  your right hands.  In the testimony that you are

         16  about to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the

         17  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         18                 MR. OTT:  I do.

         19                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  I do.

         20                 MS. CRAYTOR:  I do.

         21                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, Ed,

         23  you're up.  We're very, very grateful that you could

         24  be here with us and I'm also very gratified by your

         25  involvement with the Mayor's Sustainability
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          2  Committee.  Joanne and you have great insights,

          3  which you share with us in that forum and we greatly

          4  appreciate that and we certainly appreciate having

          5  you here today.

          6                 MR. OTT:  Okay, thank you very much.

          7  Nice to be here.  I want to thank the Chairman for

          8  holding the Hearing, both Chairmans (sic).  I'm

          9  going to skip around a little bit, be very brief and

         10  run out.  But, and then I want to react to one point

         11  that was brought up earlier, just, about tax

         12  incentives.

         13                 My name is Ed Ott.  I'm the Executive

         14  Director of the New York City Central Labor

         15  Council/AFL- CIO.  It's a federation of 400

         16  affiliated locals.  I'm also the Chairman of the New

         17  York City Apollo Alliance, a coalition of labor

         18  unions, businesses and community- based

         19  organizations convened by urban agenda.  In

         20  addition, I serve on Mayor Bloomberg's

         21  Sustainability Advisory Board.

         22                 As the country's largest municipal

         23  labor federation, the Central Labor Council has

         24  always worked to support and advance New York City's

         25  workforce and economic development strategies.  As
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          2  the Executive Director, I strongly believe the

          3  future of our manufacturing sector relies on the

          4  success of New York City's commitment to green

          5  manufacturing. Strengthening the link between green

          6  building and local manufacturing is a job- creating

          7  opportunity and energy conservation necessity we

          8  cannot afford to miss.

          9                 I'm going to skip some of the rest.

         10  The New York City Apollo Alliance encourages the

         11  City to continue to pioneer policies that support

         12  growth and high performance construction, develop

         13  effective job training programs and make certain the

         14  City continues to lead by example.  We know none of

         15  this will happen without a concerted action and

         16  collaboration between government, business, labor

         17  unions and community- based organizations.

         18                 I would emphasize that these new

         19  initiatives have enormous potential to create jobs

         20  in manufacturing, construction and building

         21  maintenance sectors.  New York City will be better

         22  able to capture the benefits of growing green

         23  economy if it invests in education and training

         24  opportunities to prepare workers to take these jobs.

         25                 I just want to say that,
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          2  particularly, if you talking about converting

          3  existing facilities to green manufacturing or within

          4  the construction industry, the social base for

          5  resistance is always rooted in the unknown and the

          6  fear of the new.  By having these transition

          7  programs there, we can really begin to get workers

          8  to accept the new in much easier ways.  Also, for

          9  the, I hate to say it, for business owners who are

         10  terrified often of the investment required, if they

         11  begin to understand what's there to support them

         12  early on, including the training of their

         13  workforces, they'll be more accepting of moving in

         14  towards green products.

         15                 The last thing I'm going to say, I'm

         16  just going to leave the rest for your to read, the

         17  question of tax incentives as part of this effort

         18  was brought up by the Bronx Borough President and I

         19  said to him before he left, I'm not for or against

         20  tax incentives.  But, before we go down that route,

         21  I would just suggest that any use of tax incentives

         22  be accompanied by a commitment on the part of the

         23  City to use existing capital funds towards the

         24  purchase of green materials in support of green

         25  techniques.  To do one without the other, I think is
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          2  just really a throwing of the tax payer's money

          3  away.

          4                 The real incentive here would be as a

          5  commitment, to commit to build green on the high

          6  performance side, particularly where we've allocated

          7  several billion dollars for school construction.

          8  This, accompanied by other efforts of purchasing

          9  particular materials, is a great incentive for

         10  manufacturers to either begin to get into the

         11  business or those who are in the business somewhere

         12  else to move closer to market, rather than right

         13  away go down the tax incentive road.  With that,

         14  I'll turn it over to Adam.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  All right,

         16  okay.  I just want to respond to Ed, because

         17  ordinarily I save the questions for the end of the

         18  panel, but Ed's got to go.  Certainly, any

         19  discussion that we have here at the Council

         20  regarding any kind of initiative, that we would

         21  advance that relates, in any way, to sustainability,

         22  job creation, green manufacturing, you can rest

         23  assured, Ed, that you and the Labor Council and all

         24  of your associates will be front and center in those

         25  discussions. Certainly, we want to get the benefit
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          2  of your views before we would proceed.  So, we

          3  appreciate you coming here and putting that on the

          4  record and we look forward to working with you on

          5  that.

          6                 MR. OTT:  Okay.  Thank you.  No

          7  disrespect, but I really do have  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, that's

          9  quite all right. We know.  1.5 million members, you

         10  know what I mean, they all need Ed.  Thank you.

         11  Adam or, okay, yes, make your own, okay, Adam,

         12  please.

         13                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  We chose.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure, okay.

         15                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  Thank you all very

         16  much for the  --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You've got to

         18  speak right into the microphone, it's better that

         19  way.

         20                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  Thank you all very

         21  much for the opportunity to testify.  We really

         22  appreciate the time, energy and support you've shown

         23  us and put into this initiative, put into this work

         24  over, over the past few years.  I'm Adam Friedman,

         25  Director of the New York Industrial Retention
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          2  Network, which is a City- wide economic development

          3  organization that works with well over 400

          4  manufacturers each year.  Our commitment to

          5  sustainable development really grows out of

          6  recognition that being green is good for businesses.

          7                 You know, I've been in economic

          8  development for at least 20 odd years and it's been

          9  a long time since I could spot positive trends in

         10  manufacturing.  But, I think today, you know, we can

         11  really see growth and optimism in, as a result of a

         12  commitment to sustainable development and green

         13  manufacturing.

         14                 A definition issue, what do we mean

         15  by green manufacturing?  Its production, it's both

         16  green and processed, that is how the thing is made

         17  is environmentally friendly and green in product,

         18  the end result is something that's useful in energy

         19  conservation, promoting recycling or leaves a

         20  smaller footprint on the environment.  The two

         21  companies that we went to this morning are good

         22  illustrations of that.  One makes furniture from

         23  recycled wood and the other makes wall coverings

         24  that are environmentally friendly.

         25                 The growth is being driven by a
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          2  fundamental shift towards sustainability, both in

          3  values and in the marketplace. 71 percent of the

          4  companies that we interviewed as part of our study,

          5  done in collaboration with ITAC, said that their

          6  customers were interested in green products.

          7                 New York companies can be competitive

          8  in these growing green markets for three reasons.

          9  First of all, a preference in the LEED standards for

         10  building construction, which incorporates the use of

         11  local products.  Second, the availability of

         12  recycled materials.  I think Jennifer spoke earlier

         13  about the Hugo Neu facility in Sunset Park.  You

         14  should think about the Hugo Neu facility as this

         15  great big horn of plenty and recycled materials are

         16  going to come out of that that could power that

         17  could be the raw materials for the next generation

         18  of products.

         19                 Finally, the likelihood of more

         20  customization, architects and developers and

         21  specifiers are going to have to talk to the

         22  manufacturers and actually say what they need with

         23  far greater specificity and that type of local

         24  connection bodes well, favors local production.

         25                 New York City can be a world leader
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          2  in green businesses and sustainable development,

          3  from state- of- the- art architecture to the

          4  manufacture of green products.  The Council and the

          5  Mayor are already, have laid the foundation for much

          6  of this through the Sustainability Task Force,

          7  through legislation related to public procurement

          8  and construction and through the Council's support

          9  for the green manufacturing initiative.

         10                 The green manufacturing initiative

         11  seeks to create jobs by strengthening the supply

         12  chain from the real estate development community all

         13  the way through to the local manufacturers.  As part

         14  of this effort, NYIRN will provide individual

         15  sourcing assistance, will organize networking events

         16  and many trade shows and launch an on- line database

         17  of green manufacturers.

         18                 For example, I've attached a copy of

         19  an article from yesterday's Architects Newspaper,

         20  reporting on the green manufacturing initiative and

         21  featuring the products of three local companies.

         22  This is exactly the type of audience that we want to

         23  get in front, that we, we want these companies to

         24  see and be seen by.

         25                 Moving forward, developing strategies
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          2  to encourage energy conservation and clean renewable

          3  energy technologies will be absolutely critical to

          4  the City's long- term competitiveness. NYIRN's

          5  programs are designed to reduce energy usage and

          6  thereby reduce energy costs, as well as to open the

          7  door for companies to begin thinking about greening

          8  their operations.

          9                 For example, as part of the

         10  Greenpoint/Williamsburg rezoning, NYIRN received

         11  $400,000.00 from the City Council.  The funds helped

         12  19 companies install energy efficient lighting,

         13  replace old motors and old, and other simple

         14  measures and provided DAP (phonetic) financing for a

         15  20 kw solar project and two one megawatt cogen.

         16  Projects.  In total, costs were reduced by 15

         17  percent and well over 100 kilowatts were taken off

         18  the grid.  These are great results and we hope this

         19  program is renewed in North Brooklyn and also serves

         20  as a model for a City- wide effort to reduce

         21  electricity demand and save jobs.

         22                 However, the results would have been

         23  even more impressive if businesses that invest in

         24  renewable energy and generate their power could sell

         25  back that excess clean energy to the grid.  Selling
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          2  unused capacity, such as on the weekends, would make

          3  renewable energy more financially feasible and add

          4  to the overall supply of clean energy for the City.

          5  New York City should take the lead in pushing for

          6  necessary state regulatory changes.

          7                 You'll hear a little bit later from

          8  companies and other organizations about more

          9  specific steps to capitalize on sustainable

         10  development.  I just want to end by suggesting that

         11  we look for ways to make sustainable development an

         12  integral part of our identity as a global City, just

         13  as is finance or the arts.

         14                 First, there's an increasing amount

         15  of economic development literature demonstrating

         16  that companies and investment follow skilled people,

         17  rather than people moving to find jobs.  Sustainable

         18  development is a basic quality of life measure for

         19  attracting people in New York and investment will

         20  follow.

         21                 Then, second, sustainable development

         22  also means getting the most from our scarce

         23  resources, whether that's energy or any input.  That

         24  translates into increase productivity and that is

         25  the basis for economic growth.  So, I'm really back
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          2  to where I started, that being green is good for

          3  business.  So, thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you Adam.

          5    You've got to move the microphone closer to you.

          6                 MS. CRAYTOR:  All right.  Good

          7  afternoon.  My name is Miquela Craytor.  I'm the

          8  Deputy Director for Sustainable South Bronx, which

          9  is located in the Hunts Point Section of the Bronx.

         10  This organization was founded in 2001 to address

         11  land use, energy, transportation, water, waste

         12  policy and education in order to advance the

         13  environmental and economic rebirth of the South

         14  Bronx, to inspire solutions in areas like it across

         15  the nation and the globe.

         16                 Sustainable South Bronx is committed

         17  to advancing policies that push the envelope of

         18  sustainability.  We are encouraged that more

         19  attention is being brought to bridging the gap of

         20  sustainable initiatives and the status quo of doing

         21  business in New York City.  We are excited to hear

         22  that this particular Committee, the joint

         23  relationship you have together, is looking at these

         24  issues and initiatives.

         25                 Recent reports and testimonies like
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          2  the ones being discussed here today note the growth

          3  and investment in green building and we find this

          4  very encouraging.  But, requiring and encouraging

          5  green building is only part of the picture.

          6  Critical steps must be taken to couple green

          7  building with the necessary industries that will

          8  make these buildings truly sustainable.

          9                 Sustainable South Bronx is actually

         10  doing its part.  We are currently working on two

         11  different green building initiatives, green roofs

         12  and an eco-industrial park.  By taking the lead, we

         13  have constructed our very own green roof known as

         14  our Smart Roof Demonstration Project.  We also have

         15  actively lobbied for the City to see the connection

         16  between the benefits of green roofs to the

         17  environmental quality of our City's environment.  By

         18  creating policies that require or incentivize new

         19  buildings to incorporate green roof technology, new

         20  avenues for green economic development open.

         21                 Furthermore, Sustainable South Bronx

         22  is actually trying to create ways to reduce the cost

         23  of implementing green roof and, thus far, we are

         24  working with several businesses in the Bronx to

         25  reduce these costs, to make it more economically
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          2  viable for existing buildings to participate in this

          3  new industry.

          4                 Our other initiative, which is a

          5  joint partnership with Green Worker Cooperatives,

          6  among others, is often referred as an eco-industrial

          7  park.  We are conducting, currently conducting a

          8  feasibility study for a Bronx recycling industrial

          9  park.  Essentially, this would take the sections of

         10  the waste stream, such as glass, plastic and wood,

         11  deconstruct them to usable parts and then create

         12  something new from what was initially conceived as

         13  waste.  Essentially, this concept would take

         14  recyclable materials, demolition and construction

         15  waste and create usable building materials.  We are

         16  in the final stages of the study and find the

         17  results very encouraging.

         18                 In addition to generating over $60

         19  million in gross revenues, creating over 300 living

         20  wage jobs, diverting 30 million pounds of plastic,

         21  numbers three through seven, per year, and 1,600

         22  tons of construction and demolition waste per day,

         23  it would build green markets that are essential to

         24  the City's Local Law 86.

         25                 Additionally, it would alleviate the
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          2  construction and demolition waste burden in an area

          3  already overburdened by unenclosed truck dependent

          4  stations.  By using a state-of-the-art enclosed

          5  recycling facility with barge and rail access, a

          6  critical step would be taken to alleviate air

          7  quality and land use burdens in the Hunts Point

          8  section of the Bronx, an area I would note that has

          9  a six times the national rate of asthma.

         10                 But, all these benefits of the

         11  recycling part are currently threatened by another

         12  City project, the creation of a jail at the Oakpoint

         13  site.  The question becomes, as the City Council and

         14  the City itself looks holistically at policies such

         15  as the ones being discussed today, what trade offs

         16  are worth this loss?  What message is being sent to

         17  an area in desperate need of jobs?  What is the

         18  highest and best use for a rare 28 acre site with

         19  barge and rail access?  It is obvious that a concept

         20  such as this would offer the City a real opportunity

         21  to capitalize on green markets, thereby linking it

         22  to the City's green building policy.  This

         23  connection is easy to make, but will the City

         24  Council and the City take the critical step to

         25  support projects such as this?
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          2                 This is why I implore you today to

          3  consider what offers, what you offer the New York

          4  City residents as a viable and sustainable future,

          5  green jobs.  We need leadership that sees the

          6  connection between sustainable initiatives like

          7  green roofs and recycling parts to land use

          8  decisions and City infrastructure siting.  We need

          9  you to create policies that incentivize green

         10  manufacturing, at the same time connect these

         11  policies to your decision- making in other areas of

         12  City Council control.  By doing both of these, you

         13  can truly support sustainable development.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I appreciate

         15  you being here today to tell us about that important

         16  issue and what Sustainable South Bronx is doing

         17  overall.  So, I appreciate that.  And, Adam, yes, I

         18  appreciate you being such a great friend and partner

         19  to the Council.  The work we're doing now with the

         20  green manufacturing kind of stands on the shoulders

         21  of some of the other work that you have done in

         22  cooperation with us and ITAC and we appreciate you

         23  taking this to the next level with us.

         24                 Maybe I'll ask you the same question

         25  I asked the representative from the EDC regarding
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          2  what the current sort of dollar value or whatever it

          3  is for New York City's green marketplace and where

          4  you see it potentially going?  You've got to speak

          5   --

          6                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  I have to turn it on.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

          8                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  I'd be really hesitant

          9  to put a dollar value.  We know from Local Law 86, I

         10  think that's a $12 billion number.  When we did one

         11  of those studies, we did identify that there's about

         12  570 plus LEED projects within the New York City

         13  marketplace.  I don't have a dollar value for them,

         14  but it does give you some idea of the tremendous

         15  scale.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Let me ask

         17  another.  How do you recommend connecting the

         18  manufacturers of green products in New York City

         19  with the consumers of such products, you know, such

         20  as for Local Law 86?  How do we make that nexus?

         21                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  Well, I think you've

         22  already begun that process, you know, and the reason

         23  why I put that news story in there was the challenge

         24  we face is really reminding architects in the real

         25  estate development community that there are local
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          2  manufacturers and they can get that LEED point for

          3  local procurement.

          4                 When we did the study, one of the

          5  findings was, you know, that there's this myth about

          6  manufacturing, that it's gone.  So, the first issue

          7  is just changing the myth and we've tried to, as you

          8  know, in collaboration, what we did this morning,

          9  was to get into the media, you know, and get more

         10  face time with the architects and the engineers and

         11  the specifiers.

         12                 We're trying to do that through

         13  collaborations with the U.S. Green Building Council

         14  and the AIA to host joint events, so that they can

         15  actually see for themselves that the manufacturers

         16  are here and we need more networking to go on. Also,

         17  we, we'll do assistance, direct sourcing assistance.

         18    If an architect or somebody calls them up, calls

         19  us up, we'll help them find the products that

         20  they're looking for locally.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  That's great.

         22  It's been wonderful collaborating with you.  I know

         23  that this partnership that we've launched since the

         24  budget process is going to be one that is going to

         25  be terrific and I'm glad we're doing it with you
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          2  guys.

          3                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  Could I just piggyback

          4  on something that was  --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure.

          6                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  --  Was just said by

          7  Ms. Craytor. How do, you know, the challenge is to

          8  make City policy consistent, you know, and in this

          9  case we're trying to match up land use policy with

         10  our goals around sustainable development. One of the

         11  things we heard from both companies this morning was

         12  how challenging it is find space.  Here, we want to

         13  launch a whole bunch of new businesses to grow, just

         14  preserving some space for industry and for green

         15  collar jobs is really critical and that we need to

         16  incorporate that into our land use planning.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I guess it kind

         18  of feeds into my next and last question I was going

         19  ask you about to what extent do you foresee

         20  obstacles regarding the growth of green

         21  manufacturing, green collar jobs in New York City?

         22  You just mentioned land use right now.

         23                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  I think, I would say

         24  that's the one, you know, what you've, what Local

         25  Law 86 has already done is it's begun to make the
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          2  market definite.  Companies are willing to invest if

          3  they know that there's a market out there that they

          4  can serve.  The other barriers are going to be

          5  around financing and I think EDC, it appears, it

          6  beginning to address that.  But, also just

          7  preserving land, you know, you need space for

          8  companies to grow.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         10                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I appreciate

         12  it.  We could go on longer, but we have to get the

         13  rest of the panel through.

         14                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  We appreciate

         16  both of you being here today.  Mike McGuire, Mike

         17  McGuire, my friend, Mike McGuire of Mason Tenders'

         18  District Council, Susan Kaplan, oh Susan Kaplan.  Is

         19  Susan here?  Hi Susan.  Peter, how do you say that?

         20  Strugatz, I hope we're saying that, from IceStone

         21  and Catherine Barton, oh, from DFB Sales.  While

         22  this panel is configuring itself, I have to take

         23  like a one minute break.  You can swear in the

         24  witnesses.  I'm not going anywhere.  I'm not going

         25  across the street to the other Hearing.  I'll be
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          2  right back.

          3                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Please raise

          4  your right hand.  In the testimony that you are

          5  about to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the

          6  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          7                 MR. McGUIRE:  I do.

          8                 MS. KAPLAN:  I do.

          9                 MR. STRUGATZ:  I do.

         10                 MS. BARTON:  I do.

         11                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, sorry for

         13  that.  Now, it's my understanding that Mr. McGuire

         14  has a little bit of a time commitment, so we're

         15  going to put Mike on first, so he can give us his

         16  good testimony and then if you wish to be excused

         17  after you deliver your testimony, then by all means.

         18                 MR. McGUIRE:  Thank you Mr. Chairman.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  So,

         20  everyone is duly sworn Donna?  Duly sworn?  Okay,

         21  great.  So, sure, do you have a statement, Mike,

         22  that you  --

         23                 MR. McGUIRE:  Sure.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  Did you

         25  hand out?
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          2                 MR. McGUIRE:  Yeah, I believe the

          3  Sergeant- at- Arms is passing it around.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, fine.  But,

          5  sure, you can commence with, I just want to, I got

          6  it, okay, thank you Mike.

          7                 MR. McGUIRE:  Sure.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Good to have

          9  you here.

         10                 MR. McGUIRE:  Good to be here.  I was

         11  throwing the name around enough, I identify myself

         12  usually Mike McGuire, Mason Tenders' District

         13  Council.

         14                 Green building, also known as high

         15  performance building, is a growing industry in New

         16  York City.  It is also one of the most important new

         17  industries we've seen in New York in many years.  As

         18  of June, 2005, as many as 30 high performance

         19  building projects were in the planning stages of New

         20  York City, including those in the planned

         21  reconstruction of the World Trade Center site.

         22  Spending on high performance building construction

         23  expected, is expected to top $4 billion in the next

         24  three years, accounting for up to one- quarter of

         25  all new construction.
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          2                 We at the laborers have recognized

          3  this emerging trend and have implemented state- of-

          4  the- art training programs to ensure that there is a

          5  well- trained workforce ready to meet this growing

          6  trend.  As part of our continuing education and

          7  apprenticeship programs, our apprenticeship program,

          8  by the way, is comprised of more than 80 percent

          9  women and people of color, we also offer specialized

         10  training in brownfield remediation training and

         11  deconstruction.

         12                 Effective brownfield remediation

         13  allows New York City to maximize its limited land by

         14  returning land contaminated with hazardous materials

         15  to a developable state.  Deconstruction refers to

         16  dismantling rather that demolishing a building.

         17                 Although new to New York City,

         18  deconstruction has a proven track record throughout

         19  the country.  Unlike demolition, deconstruction

         20  salvages valuable materials that are able to be

         21  reused.  Build It Green, a non- profit organization

         22  based in Astoria, receives and sells these salvaged

         23  building materials, which along with guaranteeing

         24  their reuse, has the added benefit of diverting

         25  construction and demolition waste from landfills.
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          2                 Like deconstruction, our City's

          3  robust recycling program collects between 366,000

          4  and 423,000 tons per year of mixed paper recyclables

          5  and between 250,000 and 331,000 tons per year of

          6  metal, glass and plastic recyclables.  These

          7  recyclables have the potential to supply raw

          8  products for new sustainable product manufacturing.

          9  But, there is a lesson to be learned from the

         10  recycling program.  Unfortunately, the plants where

         11  the City's recyclable materials go to be processed

         12  are operated non union.  These were union jobs until

         13  the City suspended recycling several years ago.

         14  When the program was brought back, the contracts

         15  were awarded to a non- union company.  This maneuver

         16  cost Laborers' Local 108 alone almost 400 full- time

         17  jobs.

         18                 I encourage the City to identify new

         19  strategies to expand the high performance building

         20  market.  This could include expedited permitting for

         21  green building or incentive programs to encourage

         22  wide- scale building retrofits.  Certainly, as the

         23  largest landlord, the City should look at its own

         24  building stock and identify strategies to improve

         25  energy efficiency and, wherever possible,
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          2  incorporate renewable energy.

          3                 The City of New York has budgeted

          4  nearly $800 million for energy costs in the 2007

          5  adopted budget, a 28 percent increase from 2006.

          6  While some of this increase reflects the soaring

          7  fuel prices experienced this summer that have since

          8  come down, costs are still projected to continue to

          9  increase through 2010.  Concerted action needs to be

         10  taken to slow this uncontrolled consumption.

         11                 In one example of how green

         12  retrofitting could save City funds, the

         13  Administration for Children's Services' Children's

         14  Intake Center was retrofitted, including an upgrade

         15  to the HVAC system.  This retrofit is projected to

         16  save $94,000.00 per year in energy costs, while

         17  reducing carbon dioxide emissions by 44 percent.

         18  This project exemplifies the potential of a large

         19  scale program to retrofit public buildings.

         20                 The Administration of the City of New

         21  York accounts for more than ten percent of the

         22  entire energy consumption in New York City.  In

         23  addition to significant monetary savings, high

         24  performance buildings create new jobs, contribute to

         25  long- term sustainability and have important
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          2  environmental and health impacts.

          3                 The estimated value of the U.S. Green

          4  building products market is about $8 billion today,

          5  up ten- fold from less than $800 million six years

          6  ago.  In just four years, by 2010, the market will

          7  have quadrupled again, to about $32 billion. This is

          8  a sure indicator that this is a burgeoning field.

          9                 While I would urge the City of New

         10  York to seize the opportunity to be a leader in this

         11  field, I would do it with one caveat.  Remember the

         12  case of Local 108 and the recycling program.  If

         13  we're going to change the system, let's take a

         14  careful look and not do it at the expense of good

         15  jobs we already have.  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you Mike.

         17    I appreciate your thoughtful statement and

         18  particularly your point is well taken in that to go

         19  forward with making this a cleaner, greener more

         20  sustainable City, we can't do that at the expense of

         21  union jobs.  So, you certainly have my commitment

         22  and certainly I think I speak for all the Members of

         23  this Committee that we're, you know, finally attuned

         24  to the, not only the needs, but also the quality

         25  that we get from our unionized workforce.  So, we're
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          2  clearly committed to that and when we see actions

          3  that, you know, cost 108 almost 400 full- time jobs,

          4  certainly that's a travesty.

          5                 The good news, however, is that as we

          6  go forward on this we'll have greater sensitivity to

          7  that and we're gratified that your workers are ready

          8  to, you know, help us clean up contaminated site, to

          9  do brownfields development and to make this  --

         10  oops, I'm sorry, I thought you were handing me

         11  something, okay  --  and to do all the good things

         12  that have to be done.  So, we're grateful to have

         13  you with us here today.  We know you have to run but

         14    --

         15                 MR. McGUIRE:  Yeah, I'm sorry about

         16  that.  I didn't realize the meeting, the Hearing

         17  would run so long, so.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes, we, you

         19  know, it's  --

         20                 MR. McGUIRE:  It's good  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  It's our

         22  Committee.  We're a thoughtful Committee, we have

         23  thoughtful witnesses and, you know, once we get

         24  going, forget it, you know, we really talk.  Thank

         25  you Mike.
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          2                 MR. McGUIRE:  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Good to see

          4  you.  See you soon.  Okay.  Well, I'll tell you

          5  what, I'm going to call on Susan Kaplan next.  Susan

          6  has the distinction of being one of my constituents.

          7    She lives in Jim country and is my buddy.  So,

          8  with that kind of set up, Susan, you're  --

          9                 MS. KAPLAN:  I'm in trouble.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes, you can

         11  say no wrong.

         12                 MS. KAPLAN:  My name is Susan Kaplan.

         13    As we've heard  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Do you have a

         15  statement, Susan.  Did you hand a statement  --

         16                 MS. KAPLAN:  Yes I did.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  To the

         18  Sergeant?

         19                 MS. KAPLAN:  I did, yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

         21                 MS. KAPLAN:  It's got my name in

         22  handwriting on top.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, I got it.

         24    I got it.

         25                 MS. KAPLAN:  My name is Susan Kaplan.
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          2    I am simultaneously on the Board of New York U.S.

          3  Green Building Council and Metropolitan Chapter of,

          4  New York Chapter of CSI, Construction Specifiers

          5  Institute.  I also work as Director of

          6  Specifications and Sustainability at HLW, which is

          7  an architectural firm.

          8                 I would, first of all, like to thank

          9  the Council and the City for so much work done

         10  already to help green buildings.  It's really been,

         11  for organizations that I belong to have worked so

         12  long for green buildings and trying to get that into

         13  laws.  I really have to thank the Council.

         14                 There are other, many obvious

         15  positive steps that we've all talked about, which is

         16  Local Law 86 and the environmentally preferable

         17  purchasing laws, which encourages stimulate the

         18  market for green materials.  What do these laws

         19  really translate into for local manufacturing?  It's

         20  interesting, because Local Law 86, which, of course,

         21  promotes green building, in general, and they, it

         22  uses LEED, which is the rating system that the U.S.

         23  Green Building Council created and within that

         24  framework or that rating system, they have points

         25  that you get. Some of these points are for recycled
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          2  materials, reuse of existing materials, salvaged

          3  materials, easily renewable materials and regionally

          4  manufactured materials.

          5                 However, some of these points aren't

          6  actually that easy to obtain when you go through the

          7  rating system, especially since the change in the

          8  one that's directed toward, literally directed

          9  toward local manufacturing.  First of all, their

         10  idea of local is for 500 miles.  Also, the other,

         11  which is good, but on the other hand, it includes

         12  ten percent materials manufactured, harvested and

         13  extracted.  Now, that's a little unrealistic,

         14  because that's a lot of, you know, that's not a lot

         15  of things we can have that are extracted nearby.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes, but, like,

         17  we're the City Council.  Like, we're not the Green

         18  Building Council.

         19                 MS. KAPLAN:  Right, right.  No, but

         20  you have LEED --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         22                 MS. KAPLAN:  --  And that's what

         23  you're using in Local Law 86  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, okay.

         25                 MS. KAPLAN:  So, that's the context
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          2  of that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, I see.

          4                 MS. KAPLAN:  Now, now, the thing is,

          5  there are good things about, LEED is changing.

          6  There is going to be a version of LEED coming out

          7  soon, which is going to be much more regionally

          8  weighted for trying to understand the whole

          9  differences in different regions, what they're

         10  capable of doing, whether they can actually come up

         11  with harvested materials or non- harvested

         12  materials.  So, that's good.

         13                 The other thing is, they have

         14  innovative points as part of the LEED, in which, of

         15  course, if we do things that are very local and very

         16  green at the same time, we can certainly get an

         17  innovative point.  Well, I shouldn't say certainly,

         18  but we can try to got an innovative point.  So,

         19  that's good, that's the good news.

         20                 Also, the local law, the environment

         21  preferable laws don't immediately talk about local

         22  manufacturing and, of course, the City may not be

         23  able to mandate that we only use local materials.

         24  However, there are other things, of course, the City

         25  can do that other people have covered much better
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          2  than I can.  But, I certainly would give an extra,

          3  you know, ask for helping an in, educational

          4  incentives to put, you know, to show how important

          5  all this is and how much the City's involved, which

          6  you've helped us do already through CSI and USGBC,

          7  which work together.

          8                 So, I think that it's really

          9  important to get, as a specifier, I've worked with

         10  people from ITAC as, to try to get the manufacturers

         11  and the people, like the architects and specifiers

         12  to work together.  That's a really important part of

         13  this.

         14                 Also, secondly, I'd like to say

         15  something that's also of concern to professionals in

         16  the design and construction industry, is that

         17  there's a real persistent sense of fear that green

         18  buildings cost a great deal more than other

         19  buildings. There is a, and a lot of significant

         20  studies, one of which I put on the, sort of gave you

         21  the website to get to, for, which are Langdon Davis

         22  Study on green building, which you can, if you can

         23  wage your way through the U.S. Green Building

         24  Council website, and good luck, you can get to this

         25  thing.  It tells you on there, how to get there,
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          2  sort of.

          3                 Many, and their findings were that

          4  many products can achieve their initial budget with

          5  little or no additional money.  That means that you

          6  have to, from the very beginning, be involved in how

          7  you design your buildings and site your buildings to

          8  include all these ideas in the very beginning.

          9  There are low cost and high- cost buildings, whether

         10  they're green or not, whether they're green in LEED

         11  or not, whether they're green. Buildings, what they

         12  found, which I thought was really fascinating, is

         13  that cost differences are more significantly

         14  affected by program type than whether they're green

         15  or not or whether they're LEED or not.

         16                 So that, we have to not, like not

         17  panic over the idea of green and realize that you're

         18  looking at a project. There are ways, and this is

         19  one of the other things that  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, you're not

         21  going to do them all, are you?

         22                 MS. KAPLAN:  No, absolutely not.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

         24                 MS. KAPLAN:  There are a couple of

         25  ways that are very important  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

          3                 MS. KAPLAN:  --  On the flip side of

          4  what you can do to help a building, incorporate from

          5  the beginning, like I said, design a project as a

          6  whole system, focus on specific requirements.  That

          7  means like focus on what your building is about.

          8  That's what you do when you design.  It shouldn't

          9  change when you do green buildings.

         10                 Laboratories are energy and water

         11  hungry building types, with toxic waste issues,

         12  whereas schools require spaces that are specially

         13  well lit and produce educational productivity. It is

         14  clear they have different environmental goals.  You

         15  have to be focused on what your project is about.

         16  You can't forget that and go randomly, I want to be

         17  green.  Otherwise, it's not going to be economically

         18  effective and your project's not going to be

         19  successful.  Choosing teams with experience and

         20  establishing local team goals.

         21                 So, I think that it's important also

         22  to note small, we've talked about this before here

         23  today, that productivity is a very important part, a

         24  new science, the idea of productivity, affected by

         25  green buildings, but it is one that's significant
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          2  because employees and their health cost more than

          3  energy.  We have to remember that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

          5                 MS. KAPLAN:  Thank you very much for

          6  letting us speak.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

          8  I've been told by staff that I can't talk any more,

          9  in the interest of time. I've just got to get all

         10  the testimony on the record.  So, thank you Susan.

         11  Thank you, I appreciate that very much.  Catherine

         12  Barton.  We're going to hear from Catherine next.

         13                 MS. BARTON:  I'm Catherine Barton  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  We went to see

         15  DFB this morning.

         16                 MS. BARTON:  --  And I'm from DFB.  I

         17  really, I have, there are three organizations I have

         18  to acknowledge.  When DFB made a commitment to

         19  become a sustainable company several years ago, we

         20  asked ITAC how to do it and they brought us to

         21  Rochester Institute of Technology, to their

         22  Sustainable Systems Resource Center, and for that

         23  we're extremely grateful.

         24                 I remember Local Law 86, when it was

         25  Article 324, so to you and your Committee, I thank
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          2  you.  You know, NYIRN has always said to us, okay,

          3  so you're green, now what, and they've helped bring

          4  us to places like this and to the ears of design

          5  professionals and construction professionals and so

          6  to Adam and his staff, I thank them as well.

          7                 I can do this in 98 seconds.  We have

          8    --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You're a great

         10  American.

         11                 MS. BARTON:  Well, I've had your ear

         12  all day and there's only one other Council Person

         13  here, so I feel blessed. We're in Long Island City.

         14  We're 100 employees strong and we're a proud members

         15  of four organized labor unions and we also enjoy the

         16  privilege of an international labor agreement.

         17                 We subscribe to sustainable product

         18  development and sustainable building practices

         19  because we think it's a good business model.  It

         20  makes sense to us, good business sense. We're not

         21  tree huggers.  We're a 60 year old company that

         22  prides itself on producing excellent products,

         23  producing outstanding services and standing behind

         24  our product long after it's been installed.  Case in

         25  point, the Bloomberg Building, thousands of low-
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          2  voltage solar shades, minimizing heat gain and

          3  interfacing with their entire low- voltage building

          4  system.

          5                 So, let's talk about something.  Now

          6  there's the environmental, the Energy Policy Act,

          7  EPAct, which offers end users up to $1.80 a square

          8  foot as a tax credit to build a building that is

          9  energy- efficient, emits minimal toxins and doesn't

         10  pollute this environment.

         11                 NYSERDA has a wide menu of energy

         12  rebate programs, which compensates building owners

         13  and end users for installing low voltage and energy-

         14  efficient systems.  These are cold hard cash refunds

         15  from approved energy systems.

         16                 So, why is it so difficult to get

         17  contractors to embrace green products?  What's the

         18  stumbling block?  I almost think that we need to

         19  emphasize that building responsibly and sustainably

         20  can be a profit center for contractors.  If you want

         21  to shave costs, then buy your carting (phonetic)

         22  services better, manage your labor more efficiently,

         23  but please don't switch the green speck.  You can

         24  charge full value for a low- voltage building system

         25  or walls that don't off gas toxic fumes.  You don't
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          2  have to save money there.  Make your money on these

          3  systems.  What they cost up front in building, they

          4  more than pay for themselves in ultimate building

          5  performance.

          6                 Adolfo Carrion's education

          7  initiative, it's very exciting.  It's organizations

          8  like ITAC and NYIRN that are really prime to support

          9  these efforts.  Construction professionals and

         10  organized labor can be educated about all the

         11  ancillary benefits that have much greater impact on

         12  the long- term performance of the building, the

         13  financial incentives that have been offered to the

         14  end user and the benefits to people who live and

         15  work in high performance green buildings.

         16                 Local Law 86 is a mechanism that has

         17  already been approved and now we have to look at

         18  what it takes to enforce this progressive piece of

         19  legislature.  I'm not going to go into how many

         20  times we lose a project when they switch out the low

         21  voltage spec to line voltage, because that's a

         22  little boring.

         23                 But, basically, we are embracing new

         24  technology in building materials that yield a higher

         25  quality environment at the end of the day.  We
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          2  believe that public education forums, a lot of

          3  visibility on rewarding those who walk the walk and

          4  incentives to embrace new building practices, just

          5  like what Peter's done. These are just a few of our

          6  suggestions.  Bloomberg, the Bloomberg

          7  Administration has an Office of Sustainability.  EDC

          8  has dedicated new efforts to Jen's Long Term

          9  Planning and Sustainable Practices.  The, the

         10  organizations are in place and we just believe that

         11  now it's time for a commitment to protecting natural

         12  resources, creating dynamic and healthy built

         13  environments and we think it's a simple and obvious

         14  choice.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Catherine,

         16  thank you, appreciate it.  Peter, how do you

         17  pronounce your last name?

         18                 MR. STRUGATZ:  Strugatz.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And what did

         20  you give us here?

         21                 MR. STRUGATZ:  Trick and treat.  It's

         22  a package about IceStone.  A sample of our product,

         23  some literature, some PR and a summary of the

         24  remarks.  If I do it in less than 90 seconds, do I

         25  get a medal?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, you get

          3  more than that.

          4                 MR. STRUGATZ:  Hi.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, please,

          6  please continue.

          7                 MR. STRUGATZ:  My name's Peter

          8  Strugatz.  I'm here with my business partner,

          9  Miranda Magagnini.  We're co- founders

         10  and co- CEOs of IceStone, LLC.  We're located at the

         11  Brooklyn Navy Yard.  We're in a 55,000 square foot

         12  day lit factory that we're trying to green.  We

         13  manufacture IceStone.  It's a product made out of

         14  recycled glass and concrete.  It's a high design

         15  green building material.  We make eight foot by five

         16  foot slabs that gets used for kitchen countertops

         17  and bathroom vanities and  --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Pass it around.

         19                 MR. STRUGATZ:  --  Floor and wall

         20  coverings, please  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, sorry.

         22                 MR. STRUGATZ:  We're three years old.

         23    We've grown from the two of us to 39 employees,

         24  living wage, green collar jobs.  We are a triple

         25  bottom line company.  We do things on the social
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          2  side.  We have our own ESL classes, GED support,

          3  some immigration work.

          4                 But, the product is really the story.

          5    It is a beautiful product.  It's being used

          6  presently at Equinox Fitness Clubs, Starbucks, Whole

          7  Foods.  All the bathrooms in the new Durst

          8  Organizations Bank of America tower at Bryant Park

          9  will have IceStone in them.

         10                 It's, the demand for IceStone and

         11  other green products are growing very quickly.  We

         12  just got back from the U.S. Green Building Council's

         13  Fifth Annual Convention and Trade Show last week and

         14  when we started this enterprise there were 2,500

         15  participants.  Last week, there were 14,000 people

         16  in Denver, with 800 exhibitors.  Green building is

         17  mainstream and it's growing very quickly.

         18                 We couldn't be here today without the

         19  help from many different organizations, the Brooklyn

         20  Economic Development Corporation, of course, the

         21  Brooklyn Navy Yard has been very supportive of us,

         22  the New York Industrial Retention Network has been

         23  really great in promoting green building materials

         24  within the New York real estate community.  So, we

         25  wanted to thank all those people.  And, we wanted to
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          2  thank the Council for passing the LEED mandate law

          3  and the tax credits.  It all moves in the right

          4  direction.

          5                 We're taking glass out of the waste

          6  stream.  We've taken millions of pounds of glass and

          7  we've upcycled them to a high design product.  We've

          8  just recently been awarded cradle to cradle

          9  certification from McDonough Brownguard.  We,

         10  unfortunately, are in need of about 50 million

         11  pounds of glass over the next few years and all of

         12  our glass is being purchased out of New York State.

         13  We would love buy New York City glass, but there is

         14  no sorting and processing of the glass presently.

         15  So, we would love to partner with all of  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  What do we do

         17  with it?  At the risk of sounding like I don't know

         18  what we do with it.

         19                 MR. STRUGATZ:  Well, most of the

         20  glass that's collected from residential recycling

         21  programs are, are, it's called three mix.  It's

         22  browns, it's greens and it's clears all mixed

         23  together, which doesn't have much value in the

         24  marketplace at all.  We pay hundreds of dollars per

         25  ton for sorted glass, separated by color, which is a
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          2  conversation that we would love to continue  --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

          4                 MR. STRUGATZ:  --  With you.  So, we

          5  would like to partner with New York City and other

          6  entities to try to figure out how to source our

          7  glass locally.  We'd also like the Council to

          8  consider putting influence into Albany to improve

          9  the bottle laws that are in effect today that are

         10  pretty ineffective and actually pretty insane in

         11  terms of how they categorize liquids rather than

         12  containers.  We would love for the procurement

         13  policy of New York City to somehow reflect

         14  environmental and recycled content in their own

         15  purchasing powers.  But, so that's what we would

         16  love to collaborate with and help facilitate and we,

         17  thanks for the time and consideration.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Peter, thank

         19  you.  Thank you,  Yes, I certainly would like to

         20  hear more about that and I offer you entree to my

         21  staff to further those conversations. Donna De

         22  Costanzo is the Counsel to the Committee.  We

         23  appreciate you coming here today and giving us the

         24  benefit of your views. But, we've got to get to the

         25  next panel.  I want to, oops, pardon me, oops, I'm
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          2  sorry  --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you Mr.

          4  Chair.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Council Member

          6  Reyna has a question.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Peter, I just

          8  wanted to ask you, have you gone to the private

          9  market as far as recycling waste facilities?

         10                 MR. STRUGATZ:  We have  --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  In New York

         12  City?

         13                 MR. STRUGATZ:  In New York City, we,

         14  we have ongoing discussions with Hugo Neu, who is

         15  obviously a large and significant player in the

         16  recycled world here.  But, the absence of a very low

         17  capital processing plant and the sourcing of the

         18  glass are the real issues.  So, we're trying to

         19  build a consortium of influencers to try to figure

         20  out how to facilitate that  --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Did you say

         22  sourcing or sorting?

         23                 MR. STRUGATZ:  Sourcing, sourcing,

         24  yes, exactly. Before the glass is co- mingled, we

         25  need to extract it.  The actual processing is very
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          2  simple.  It's a crushing and sieving process.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Right.  Are

          4  there any takers out there as far as telling you

          5  what the problem, I mean, what, is the cost of

          6  sourcing or?

          7                 MR. STRUGATZ:  Well, it's more about

          8  the collection process, single source collection.

          9  When residents combine glass in a bag and that bag

         10  gets crushed and it goes through the Department of

         11  Sanitation process, that glass is already been mixed

         12  up and  --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Right.

         14                 MR. STRUGATZ:  --  And made

         15  valueless.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  No, and I

         17  understand that. I'm trying to understand, do we

         18  need to step in while the containers are on the

         19  street or do we need to step in once they get to the

         20  facility or do we need to step in, obviously not

         21  after they've been crushed or mixed.

         22                 MR. STRUGATZ:  We think there's

         23  probably more immediate opportunity on the

         24  commercial side, with the bottle law collection

         25  process, where supermarkets are, and other, and bars
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          2  and distributors have the product before it's

          3  comingled.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  So, how do we,

          5  as government, help you?  Like, that's what I'm

          6  trying to, there's a disconnect here and I'm trying

          7  to see where we're going wrong. The City has a

          8  recycling responsibility and there's a product there

          9  that's in demand.  How do we meet the two?

         10                 MR. STRUGATZ:  It's not an easy

         11  answer.  There are also other opportunities.  The

         12  technology for optical sorting of glass is coming

         13  into a commercialization stage.  It's being used in

         14  other countries.  There's a possibility there of

         15  also, of using the single source collection system

         16  that's in place, but separating it with optical

         17  sorting and more automated  --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  So, technology

         19  is one way.

         20                 MR. STRUGATZ:  Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  So, if we

         22  upgrade our recycling or encourage the upgrade of

         23  the use of technology for optical sorting, it's one

         24  way to transform the industry?

         25                 MR. STRUGATZ:  Yes.  Yeah, in terms
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          2  of presorting, you known, it's a situation where you

          3  can go to your, where 90 percent of the glass is

          4  recycled, on average, in the economic, in the

          5  European community.  In the United States, only 25

          6  percent of the glass is recycled.  75 percent of the

          7  glass used in this country and probably used in the

          8  City, to a certain extent, is landfilled after one

          9  use.  So, if we can separate it out.  We also think

         10  there are some possible job creation  --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  I see it all

         12   --

         13                 MR. STRUGATZ:  Yeah, right, in terms

         14   --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Just listening

         16  to you, absolutely.

         17                 MR. STRUGATZ:  Yeah, in terms of the

         18  sorting and the processing.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Right.  But,

         20  technology is one item as far as recommendation and

         21  you're saying in Europe, 90 percent of the glass is

         22   --

         23                 MR. STRUGATZ:  Recycled.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Recycled

         25  successfully.  Is it because they use technology to
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          2  help them get to that percentage?

          3                 MR. STRUGATZ:  No.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Is it  --

          5                 MR. STRUGATZ:  The bulk of the reason

          6  is it's presorted.  If you go down a street in

          7  Germany, there are containers for the green glass

          8  and the clear glass  --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Right.

         10                 MR. STRUGATZ:  --  And the brown

         11  glass.  So, it's already separated and in that form,

         12  it has real value.  It has value to bottle

         13  manufacturers, because it saves energy in the making

         14  of a new bottle and it has even more value to a

         15  company like ours, which is making a high perceived

         16  value product from it.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  So, did we

         18  flaw the law by just lumping everything together or?

         19                 MR. STRUGATZ:  It's, it's, I don't

         20  think there's a simple answer or silver bullet.

         21  This country is going towards single source, but, on

         22  the residential side, but I think there's

         23  opportunities on the commercial side as well as

         24  using the technology.  It's, I wish I had a nice

         25  quick answer for you, but I don't.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  No, I'm not

          3  expecting a nice quick, answer.  I just, you know, I

          4  have a lot of recycling and putrescible waste

          5  facilities and we carry a nice bulk of it. So, if we

          6  can assist our environment by making sure we're

          7  doing our part in transforming these industries,

          8  even better for us, because we won't see any real

          9  benefits from the SWMP plan that we passed last year

         10  to be able to assist us, or this year rather, to be

         11  able to assist us immediately.

         12                 So, in the meantime, what do we do?

         13  So, if these are ways that we can start engaging, in

         14  conversations, to have some influence, I'd like to

         15  hear them because I have a private market out there

         16  and if they're not doing their fullest potential to

         17  assist our environment as well, our neighborhoods,

         18  when I say environments, and produce a demand that

         19  you're requesting, you know, we're not connecting

         20  the dots.  I want to be able to do that.

         21                 MR. STRUGATZ:  I'd like the

         22  opportunity to continue the conversation.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you.

         24                 MR. STRUGATZ:  Okay, thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.
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          2  Thank you Susan and Peter and Catherine.  Pleasure

          3  to have you here today.  Thank you Council Member

          4  Reyna.  Next panel, David Smith of Princeton Energy

          5  Systems, from Philadelphia.  Thank you for traveling

          6  to see us.  Allen Roberts, Clean Energy Systems, New

          7  York, David Buckner, Solar Energy Systems, LLC and

          8  Anthony Pereira of altPOWER.  Right, I called four,

          9  yes, Anthony Pereira, David Smith, David Buckner,

         10  Allen Roberts.  Okay, sorry for the lateness of the

         11  hour and Donna will swear you in.

         12                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Please raise

         13  your right hand.  In the testimony that you are

         14  about to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the

         15  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         16                 MR. SMITH:  I do.

         17                 MR. ROBERTS:  We do.

         18                 MR. BUCKNER:  I do.

         19                 MR. PEREIRA:  I do.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         22  This gentleman traveled from Philadelphia, David

         23  Smith, right?  Okay.  So, we're just going to go

         24  from, well, from my left to my right.  Do you have a

         25  statement?  Okay, fine.  Mr. Smith, if you could

                                                            125

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  just identify yourself for the record and begin your

          3  statement.  Just press the button there so that the

          4  light goes off, or that the red light goes off.

          5                 MR. SMITH:  Good afternoon Chairman

          6  Gennaro and Members of the Environmental and

          7  Economic Development Committee. My name is David

          8  Smith and I'm founder and CEO of Princeton Energy

          9  Systems.

         10                 First, I'd like to thank you for this

         11  opportunity to talk today and testify about clean

         12  energy technologies and services  --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  David, hang on.

         14    Sergeant, if I could just ask you to close the

         15  door, to keep the noise out. Thank you.  Okay,

         16  please continue.

         17                 MR. SMITH:  I'd also like to commend

         18  the Council for your progressive support of green

         19  and high performance buildings and green markets and

         20  services throughout New York. Next, if I may, I'll

         21  briefly describe Princeton Energy Systems and then

         22  talk about the benefits of cogeneration, a highly

         23  efficient on- site means of producing electricity

         24  and thermal energy.

         25                 Princeton Energy Systems is an energy
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          2  consulting, engineering and project services company

          3  with special expertise in the areas of renewable

          4  energy, on- site generation and advanced efficiency

          5  technologies.  Our market encompasses a wide range

          6  of customers from large industrials like General

          7  Electric and Frito Lay to small manufacturers like

          8  Brooklyn- based Brass Masters and Chloe Foods.

          9                 Principally, we work with industrial

         10  companies, multi- facility municipal and educational

         11  campuses and commercial enterprises.  We target

         12  geographic areas where the cost and reliability of

         13  power compel companies to reduce energy consumption

         14  and/or produce their own power and thermal energy.

         15                 New York City, with its high power

         16  costs, a strained electric grid and occasional

         17  blackouts is a growing market for us, an area where

         18  customers are receptive to our message and keenly

         19  interested in the services and solutions we offer.

         20                 Our approach to helping customers

         21  achieve their energy, economic and environmental

         22  goals is based on an integrated systems approach

         23  that first looks at reducing energy consumption

         24  through efficiency measures.  We then explore ways

         25  and, to cleanly and cost- effectively produce power
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          2  on- site, primarily through the deployment of

          3  combined heat and power systems also known as

          4  cogeneration.

          5                 On- site cogeneration systems can be

          6  nearly three times as efficient and less polluting

          7  as central power plants. Why?  For the simple reason

          8  that they capture the heat resulting from the

          9  electric generation process and put it to use in the

         10  facility or factory.  With central generation, the

         11  heat goes up the smoke stack and is lost in the

         12  atmosphere.

         13                 So, with CHP, which has been around

         14  for decades going back to Thomas Edison, there is no

         15  real magic, you make electricity, you capture the

         16  heat and you use it.  Also, the so called prime

         17  mover technologies used in CHP are tried and true.

         18  We're talking mostly about internal combustion

         19  engines and gas turbines.  Although more exotic

         20  technologies like fuel cells are also used in cogen.

         21                 The graphic that I've presented in

         22  that, in our, my testimony, describes the basic

         23  process with energy in the form of clean burning

         24  natural gas and in all of our circumstances we also

         25  use biogas from waste water treatment facilities, is
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          2  supplied to the cogeneration system and combusted to

          3  make electricity, with heat as a primary byproduct.

          4                 Approximate conversion efficiencies

          5  result in about 33 percent of the fuel being used to

          6  make electricity, with about 53 percent captured as

          7  usable heat.  The remaining 14 percent is lost,

          8  however, in the form of waste heat.  Again, this

          9  compares to about 65 percent of fuel energy being

         10  lost to the atmosphere in central generation.  So,

         11  that's 14 percent waste versus 65 percent waste.

         12                 In the past, on- site power

         13  generation using CHP only made sense for very large

         14  industrial companies and campuses and inner cities.

         15  Now, with the advent of modular, pre engineered and

         16  factory assembled cogeneration systems, CHP can now

         17  be an attractive option for smaller manufacturers

         18  and commercial entities.

         19                 What are the benefits and what can

         20  the City Council do to help?  I'll address the

         21  benefits questions first. It's what we call a double

         22  win win or the four e's.  CHP fosters employment

         23  growth, economic vitality, energy reliability and

         24  environmental quality.

         25                 Encouraging CHP will result in local
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          2  job creation, from electrical and mechanical

          3  engineering positions to sales, installation and

          4  maintenance jobs.  CHP improves bottom lines and

          5  helps retain businesses by providing a lower cost

          6  alternative to expensive grid power.  CHP relieves

          7  strain on the power grid and reduces the likelihood

          8  of blackouts.  CHP is a highly efficient way to

          9  produce electricity that is significantly cleaner

         10  than large power plan generation.

         11                 Now, regarding what can be done to

         12  help companies embrace CHP and other forms of

         13  distributed generation.  First, please continue to

         14  encourage and support NYSERDA in its efforts to help

         15  lower the first capital costs of CHP systems through

         16  rebates and incentives.  Second, I urge you to

         17  support KeySpan, as it tries to expand the adoption

         18  of CHP with reduced gas delivery rates and other

         19  incentives.  Third, our experience is that the LDCs

         20  and organizations like NYIRN are key players in

         21  educating businesses about clean on- site generation

         22  and how it can help their bottom lines.  Lastly,

         23  support net metering to help companies recoup their

         24  capital investment.

         25                 Thank you for the opportunity to
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          2  testify.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

          4  Thank you for your concise and valuable testimony.

          5  We appreciate that.  Thank you.

          6                 MR. ROBERTS:  Good afternoon.  My

          7  name is Allen Roberts, I'm a principal at Clean

          8  Energy Systems, New York.  I'm speaking on behalf

          9  of, in addition to Clean Energy Systems, one of our

         10  affiliates, Tangarie Energy, LLC and Oy Windside

         11  Productions, Limited from Finland.  We were

         12  delighted to be invited to lend testimony about this

         13  important subject.  Our energy services company was

         14  formed ten years ago by former public utility,

         15  energy research and project finance professionals.

         16  They are motivated by a vision that, by some

         17  significant measure, we can improve our local,

         18  regional and national environment.

         19                 We thank Committee Chairpersons,

         20  James F. Gennaro and Thomas White, Junior, Speaker

         21  Christine Quinn and other Council Members and I

         22  should say also Donna De Costanzo, that have taken

         23  the time to attend this Hearing and hear and

         24  consider our views.  Seldom does one have an

         25  opportunity to address issues of such global import.
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          2                 We were particularly pleased to be

          3  invited to this Hearing for the below listed reasons

          4  that include an outline of our green product

          5  offerings, the job creation initiative of Tangarie

          6  and Oy Windside that will benefit the New York City

          7  economy by creating green collar jobs.

          8                 Clean Energy Systems, New York's

          9  mission and our suggestions/recommendations to the

         10  Council.

         11                 I'm going to skip over part of this,

         12  but this next

         13  section  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes.

         15                 MR. ROBERTS:  --  Is important.

         16  Tangarie Energy, LLC is a sole importer and

         17  distributor of Oy Windside vertical axis wind

         18  turbines for the United States and the Caribbean.

         19  Oy Windside and Tangarie, their object is to provide

         20  vertical axis wind turbines for on- site electric

         21  generation and develop products incorporating hybrid

         22  renewable energy solutions for urban centers,

         23  schools, hospitals and assisted living facilities,

         24  municipal buildings and commercial and industrial

         25  buildings.
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          2                 Tangarie Energy and Oy Windside have

          3  formed a joint venture, which will manufacture

          4  vertical axis wind turbines in New York City.  That

          5  facility will create 200 direct green collar jobs

          6  and 1,500 indirect jobs.  The planned facility, a 25

          7  year old assembly plant, will be redesigned to meet

          8  the LEED platinum certification level.

          9                 Oy Windside vertical axis wind

         10  turbines are soundless.  They do not harm birds,

         11  bats or humans.  They are safe to use in population

         12  centers, public spaces, parks and on buildings.

         13  Also, they are quite beautiful and, in many cases,

         14  have been used to combine art and functionality.

         15  Attached to my presentation is a few illustrations

         16  of Oy Windside turbines.

         17                 Power production from wind turbines

         18  is affected by certain conditions, such as wind

         19  speed, turbulence and the changes in wind direction.

         20    These conditions are not always optimal and have

         21  negative effects on most wind turbines.  Oy Windside

         22  wind turbines are least affected by these

         23  conditions. Oy Windside vertical axis wind turbines

         24  can be used wherever electricity is needed and wind

         25  is available.
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          2                 Simply put, they work when others

          3  don't, in the gentlest of summer breezes and in

          4  violent winter storms.  When others fail due to

          5  frost, ice, snow, sand, salt water or high winds, Oy

          6  Windside vertical axis wind turbines continue to

          7  produce.  Many things make Oy Windside vertical axis

          8  wind turbines extraordinary, and their total life

          9  cost makes them the best value.

         10                 I'm going to skip the issue about our

         11  clean energy systems mission, in the interest of

         12  time.  I'd like to go to the recommendations to the

         13  Council, if I may.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you, yes.

         15                 MR. ROBERTS:  We recommend that New

         16  York City should and can encourage United States-

         17  based companies currently manufacturing advanced

         18  energy technologies in China and other countries, to

         19  transfer a portion of their production to New York.

         20  The Council should form a public- private committee

         21  to develop a strategy to get it done.  By the way,

         22  we did it in Finland and I think we can do it in

         23  China.

         24                 We recommend that New York City

         25  aggressively incentivize renewable and alternative
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          2  systems at or close to the European model.  For

          3  example, Germany won the 2006 Alternative Energy

          4  Institute's Green Light Award.  This was the result

          5  of the German government's support of clean

          6  renewable energy systems. Other countries, including

          7  Iceland, Sweden and China are also doing more to

          8  make a greater commitment to renewable energy.

          9                 China, the world's second biggest

         10  emitter of greenhouse gases, announced plans on

         11  Thursday, November 16, 2006, to more than double its

         12  reliance on renewable energy by 2020, which would

         13  make it a leading player in the wind, solar and

         14  hydropower industries.  This is in stark contrast to

         15  the 2005 House of Representatives- passed energy

         16  bill that bestowed $37 billion in tax breaks to the

         17  coal, nuclear and oil industries.

         18                 There are a number of others, but

         19  I'll go as far as net metering.  We recommend, this

         20  gentleman mentioned it before I, we recommend that

         21  net metering regulations that penalize energy-

         22  efficient systems, including on- site wind energy

         23  and building integrated and building applied

         24  photovoltaic systems be amended.  We suggest that

         25  net metering apply to all distributed generation
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          2  projects less than three megawatts in New York City

          3  to encourage transmission congestion relief.  You

          4  can read the other additional information on net

          5  metering at your leisure.

          6                 We recommend that submetering should

          7  be encouraged in multi- unit residential buildings.

          8  Submetering permits the measurement the electric use

          9  in individual apartments via a building- owned meter

         10  that is installed for each apartment.  The building

         11  continues to purchase its electricity at a less

         12  expensive commercial or a bulk residential rate

         13  basis, but the owner is able to bill electric to

         14  individual apartments on an actual consumption

         15  basis.  The relationship between the building and

         16  the utility remains exactly the same as before.  The

         17  building continues to receive one bill from the

         18  utility and the owner allocates the utility costs

         19  based on the usage recorded by the apartment's

         20  submeters.  NYSERDA has a bunch of information on

         21  submetering at their website.

         22                 We recommend the Council develop

         23  energy education programs in cooperation with the

         24  City University and State University systems.  The

         25  Council should consider requiring the New York City
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          2  Housing Authority to convert all coal- and oil fired

          3  buildings to clean cogeneration systems.  I believe

          4  with the support of the New York State Energy,

          5  Research and Development Authority and the New York

          6  Power Authority, this can be accomplished in ten

          7  years or fewer.

          8                 With respect to power plants, we

          9  recommend the Council carefully review the TransGas

         10  energy proposal (New York City Energy Policy Section

         11  4B, Power Plants in Certification Process), I think

         12  that was 2004.  As proponents of distributed

         13  generation and on- site power, we believe that this

         14  project is costly, unnecessary and should be

         15  rejected.

         16                 We recommend that this, that a, as a

         17  City- wide carbon dioxide sequestration initiative,

         18  thousands of green roof projects and tree planting

         19  efforts should be launched.  As we know, the wood of

         20  mature trees is 50 percent solid carbon.

         21  Consequently, mature trees tend to absorb less

         22  carbon as they age.  Newly planted tress absorb much

         23  more carbon dioxide as they grow, thereby

         24  sequestering much more than mature trees.

         25                 We recommend that the Council
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          2  encourage the New York City congressional delegation

          3  to seek an energy and environmental appropriation in

          4  the amount of $100 million.  The monies can be

          5  equitably distributed through in- place borough-

          6  wide local economic development agencies.  Those

          7  agencies could then jump- start the installation of

          8  green technologies by providing low or no- interest

          9  loans and grants to renewable energy installations

         10  to homeowners, landlords, cooperatives and

         11  condominiums.  Thank you for your time.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         13  This is, I appreciate your testifying like two

         14  Hearings in a row.  We really appreciate it, Mr.

         15  Roberts, thank you.  Thank you very much. Moving on.

         16                 MR. BUCKNER:  Thank you, Chairman

         17  Gennaro, for having us here today.  My name is David

         18  Buckner and my company is Solar Energy Systems.

         19  We're located in the Greenpoint section of Brooklyn.

         20    We're a renewable energy company.  We specialize

         21  in solar electric photovoltaic systems.  We design,

         22  supply, install and maintain photovoltaic systems.

         23  Our projects have ranged from small remote systems

         24  to large building- integrated installations in New

         25  York City.
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          2                 We are experienced installers with

          3  master- level training and NABCEP Certification.

          4  NABCEP is North American Board of Certified Energy

          5  Practitioners.  To date, we've been involved with

          6  the design and development and deployment of solar

          7  electricity systems totaling over one megawatt in

          8  capacity, including over 400 kw within New York City

          9  limits.  Our projects have included the private,

         10  public, government and institutional sectors.

         11                 Just in the last 18 months, we've

         12  grown from two to seven full- time employees.  So,

         13  it's a, as the, the market that is taking off quite

         14  a bit.

         15                 I want to just, there's obvious

         16  barriers to clean energy and distributed generation.

         17    I'm going to touch on one. We feel, really, that

         18  the most important and immediate area in which the

         19  City can provide assistance and promote growth of

         20  solar energy markets in New York City is with

         21  assistance in educating the local electrical

         22  inspectors.

         23                 Recent changes to New York City's

         24  electrical code require that all new PV

         25  installations be tested as a complete assembly by a
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          2  nationally recognized testing laboratory.  The

          3  electrical division recommends that prior to

          4  installing the PV system, the contractor or designer

          5  submits concept approval drawings to the advisory

          6  board for review, for which there is no fee.

          7                 When the PV system is completed.  It

          8  shall be tested, listed and labeled by a NTRL,

          9  Nationally Recognized Testing Lab, as a complete

         10  assembly.  With this documentation, the electrical

         11  contractor can call for a final City electrical

         12  inspection.

         13                 A few important points here.

         14  Individual components of standard PV installations,

         15  including all the ones that we've done to date, are

         16  already tested and listed by national testing labs,

         17  such as UL.  Requiring these systems to be tested

         18  again once they are assembled is redundant and

         19  costly. The labs are confused about re- testing

         20  already tested equipment, but they won't turn away

         21  the work.  This test has cost us $2,500.00 to

         22  $3,500.00, depending on the complexity.  It's just

         23  adding a significant cost.  We do a lot of different

         24  projects, but  --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes, we can
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          2  make your concerns known to the Buildings Committee,

          3  but this particular Committee has no jurisdiction

          4  over the electrical code  --

          5                 MR. BUCKNER:  Right.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  But

          7  continue  --

          8                 MR. BUCKNER:  Great.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  I don't

         10  want to slow you up.

         11                 MR. BUCKNER:  To the best, okay, to

         12  the best of our knowledge, New York City is the only

         13  jurisdiction in the country requiring this.

         14                 I can give you my recommendations

         15  that I think, we recommend a class for the New York

         16  City DOB electrical inspectors on PV technology and

         17  Article 690 of the NEC, which relates specifically

         18  to these types of installations.

         19                 There's a man named John Wiles, who

         20  is a Program Manager at Southwest Technology

         21  Development Institute.  He's currently under

         22  contract with the DOE to provide these types of

         23  training courses and it comes at no cost to the DOB,

         24  to New York City.  He's a preeminent expert on PV as

         25  it relates to the electrical code in the country.
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          2  You can read his biography and his proposal, but,

          3  basically, we would like to see potentially just

          4  five local inspectors, one for each borough, take

          5  this class.  I think with the current volume of

          6  installations that that should suffice for the next

          7  couple of years, really. There's not that many going

          8  in.

          9                 I'll drop down and finish, but you

         10  know  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure.  I just

         12  want to give a note to staff here that we should

         13  forward these recommendations to Chairman Dilan of

         14  the Buildings Committee, on which, unfortunately, I

         15  don't even serve  --

         16                 MR. BUCKNER:  Right.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  But I

         18  direct staff to, you know, bring it to Eric's

         19  attention and I'll mention it to him myself as well.

         20                 MR. BUCKNER:  Okay.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  He's the

         22  Chairman of that Committee.

         23                 MR. BUCKNER:  I think that time is

         24  always in short supply and it seems that this is a

         25  contributing factor to the electrical division's
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          2  decision to enforce this new requirement. The

          3  electrical division seem to feel that they do not

          4  have enough inspectors currently qualified to safely

          5  inspect the PV installations.  Obviously, safety is

          6  of utmost importance concerning the general public

          7  and the industry specifically. Without safe and

          8  code- compliant installations, will only hinder or

          9  potentially cripple the growth of the PV industry.

         10                 I just thank you for your

         11  consideration in this recommendation.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  It's my

         13  pleasure Mr. Buckman, Buckner, Buckner.  We thank

         14  you for being here today and rest assured that

         15  Chairman Dilan will be made aware of your concerns.

         16  We were just in your neighborhood today.  We were

         17  around the corner from you.  We took a tour of, but

         18  I have to move on, sorry.  Mr. Pereira.  Yes, I want

         19  to thank you again for being a repeat customer here.

         20  We appreciate you for the first time, I'm sure we're

         21  going to appreciate you again.

         22                 MR. PEREIRA:  No problem.  Thank you

         23  Chairman.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  Do I

         25  have your, here we go, Anthony, okay.
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          2                 MR. PEREIRA:  Okay, my name is

          3  Anthony Pereira. I'm President and CEO of altPOWER,

          4  which is a local company here in Manhattan,

          5  specializes in design and construction of wind and

          6  solar electric systems.  I'm also a Board Member of

          7  the New York State Energy, I'm sorry, New York State

          8  Solar Energy Industries Association and also the

          9  Alliance for Clean Energy, New York.

         10                 Just a brief introduction of my

         11  company.  We're locally based.  We're right here at

         12  125 Maiden Lane.  We were established in December of

         13  2002.  We have six full- time employees.  Three live

         14  in Manhattan, three live in Brooklyn.  I, myself,

         15  live in Chelsea with my wife and two year old son,

         16  Lucas. We have a little girl on the way in February.

         17    Just giving you a personal face on this that

         18  there's, these jobs are growing and people are here

         19  who are working on these projects.

         20                 Our company is responsible for all

         21  the Battery Park City solar installations.  We are

         22  actually responsible for manufacturing 8,500 square

         23  feet of those solar facades and we're currently

         24  under contract to manufacture another 10,000 square

         25  feet of those facades.  We manufacture those
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          2  projects through original equipment manufacturing

          3  companies outside of New York City and outside of

          4  the United States.  We'd love to be able to put

          5  those factories in New York City.  It's a difficult

          6  challenge.

          7                 On to the, you know, the reason why

          8  we're here is because the threats are tremendous and

          9  we know that they're there and I don't want to be

         10  redundant from the last time, but, you know, the

         11  prediction of a three- foot rise in sea level

         12  locally for New York City is a tremendous cost that

         13  we may see in the next 100 years.  Obviously,

         14  constructing dikes or dealing with that is a lot

         15  more expensive than investing in renewable and clean

         16  and efficient energy today.

         17                 On to the fourth page, solar energy

         18  as an option. Okay, very quickly, major studies show

         19  that photovoltaic peak production in New York City's

         20  peak demand coincide, so electric systems can shave

         21  New York City's peak without producing air

         22  pollution.  Studies show that enough solar energy

         23  falls on the surfaces of New York City to provide

         24  2.5 times the energy generated by Con Edison.  These

         25  are all backed- up by exhibits that you'll see
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          2  following each statement.

          3                 Other studies show that New York City

          4  rooftops alone could provide 6,000 megawatts of

          5  energy production through solar electric generation.

          6    Current capacity is only near two megawatts.  So,

          7  we've got a long way to go.  Solar electric system

          8  installations are among the largest job creators for

          9  any, for energy production worldwide.

         10                 If you can skip and go over to

         11  Exhibit E for a second, I just want to state two

         12  very important facts. Investments in solar electric

         13  system installations generate 42 percent more job

         14  years per dollar than comparable investments in coal

         15  power plants and Comptroller Hevesi's office did a

         16  study that the new, the New York Renewable Portfolio

         17  Standard is projected to create 43,000 renewable

         18  energy jobs in New York State.  The industry has a

         19  goal of 2,000 megawatts installed in the next ten

         20  years, statewide, 500 megawatts within the five

         21  boroughs of the City of New York itself.  So, most

         22  of those 43,000 jobs could be here locally in the

         23  five boroughs.

         24                 Then, I'll go on to my what's needed

         25  page or the recommendations page.  Okay.  I had my
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          2  office look into small business loans and through

          3  the SBA and the Small Business Administration of the

          4  City of New York.  It's a lot, there's a lot of

          5  information.  There's definitely a lot of loans out

          6  there, but it's very difficult to sort of sort

          7  through.  Maybe specifically one for renewable

          8  energy companies in New York City would be a good

          9  way to help locally the companies grow.  A lot of

         10  our, our issues are really just cash flow issues and

         11  they're not really that hard to overcome.

         12                 I believe the City should work

         13  together with the New York Power Authority to

         14  install PV systems on public buildings throughout

         15  New York City, mandating PV systems for new public

         16  construction, like the successful Battery Park City

         17  Authority's mandate.

         18                 Local Law 86 wants green buildings to

         19  be built. It doesn't specifically say anything about

         20  requiring or mandating renewable energy on those

         21  buildings.  Honestly, if they didn't mandate in

         22  Battery Park City, that PV systems were a part of

         23  the buildings, probably that wouldn't have happened.

         24                 A local incentive program, a buy, a

         25  dollars, you know, per watt buy- down, which is
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          2  similar to what NYSERDA maintains currently could be

          3  in addition to what we get from the state, because

          4  NYSERDA isn't differentiating the high cost of

          5  construction in New York City versus the rest of the

          6  state.  That can easily be pegged towards, at the

          7  prevailing wage rate, which is something that I've

          8  been pushing in the last, in the last Hearing as

          9  well.

         10                 New York City is one of the best

         11  places in the country to do solar because of the

         12  high cost of electricity, high pollution rates and

         13  also the incidents of, again, peak with the

         14  available solar or radiance.  You can consider a

         15  local income tax credit like the state and federal

         16  income tax credits for residential and commercial

         17  systems.  Often, commercial systems are left out of

         18  the loop.

         19                 Then help the industry and the

         20  environmental community with local policy goals,

         21  most of these are at the state level, but we are

         22  seeking:

         23                 Commercial net metering for PV

         24  systems;

         25                 Commercial sales tax exemption for PV
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          2  systems;

          3                 We're trying to pressure the Public

          4  Service Commission to follow the statutes.  Often,

          5  these utilities come up with their own

          6  interconnection rules.  They are just rules. When we

          7  compared the rule to the statute, often there are

          8  significant issues that are completely left out,

          9  like primary or there's a rule where a lot of the

         10  utilities are saying that the homeowner must be, it

         11  must be their primary residence.  That is not part

         12  of the statute, but it's part of like the rule that

         13  the local utility has put into place.  So, these are

         14  things that are, obviously, sliding under, under the

         15  rug, so to speak, for the Public Service Commission

         16  to actually implement;

         17                 Eliminate engineering review charges

         18  from utilities for commercial systems;

         19                 Work to make interconnection rules

         20  more logical and advantageous for PV systems within

         21  Con Edison's territory in particular;

         22                 One of the more important things, is

         23  initiate a third- party review of the network grid

         24  system.  This was often discussed in the last

         25  Hearing.  The network grid system, a lot of the
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          2  folks are discussing net metering and why, you know,

          3  that we have to have it New York City.  Well,

          4  apparently, technically, it's not possible to do

          5  that.  But, we're getting that from Con Edison

          6  versus any other party.  There are people within the

          7  electric distribution industry which say that's not

          8  necessarily true.  So, having a third- party

          9  actually review that and see where it is true in the

         10  City of New York is important;

         11                 Then, you know, to streamline the DOB

         12  and the Borough of Electrical Controls permitting

         13  process as well, to make it easier and more

         14  affordable for people to do these projects.

         15                 Thank you for your time.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         17  Thank you all. I have a curiosity I'd like you to

         18  satisfy.  Do you know how many installations of

         19  solar power there have been, to date, in New York

         20  City and how many megawatts do these installations

         21  represent?

         22                 MR. PEREIRA:  Roughly, it's about 25

         23  total systems and it's in the range of about two

         24  megawatts.  Most of that is the New York Power

         25  Authority's and the MTA's projects.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Total for all

          3  the projects together?

          4                 MR. PEREIRA:  About two megawatts.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Two megawatts.

          6                 MR. PEREIRA:  Just under that, I

          7  believe.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

          9                 MR. ROBERTS:  About, there are about

         10  three recent projects that went in in the Bronx, but

         11  they're not, they're not giant projects.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I see.  Well, I

         13  really appreciate you all being here.  I hope that,

         14  you know, you don't interpret my lack of questions

         15  or comments in any way as like a lack of interest or

         16  lack of gratitude in what you came here to say.

         17  It's just that we're really forced by time to move

         18  forward. I'm deeply appreciative.

         19                 MR. ROBERTS:  Can I make just a 15

         20  second comment?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure.

         22                 MR. ROBERTS:  We were, I was just

         23  thinking as this thing went on, not our presentation

         24  in particular.  But, in our view, I think the City,

         25  I was listening to some of the various City
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          2  proposals, both at this Hearing and at others, and

          3  if you're a business like ours, you don't know where

          4  to go, actually.  So, you're trying to go

          5  everywhere, which is impossible and you keep getting

          6  shunted around  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Seek and you

          8  shall find.

          9                 MR. ROBERTS:  Well, we think  --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  We want to make

         11  it easier.

         12                 MR. ROBERTS:  If the City could

         13  assign a champion, a single point of contact as a

         14  project manager, so that when it was determined that

         15  your product or your need made sense to the City,

         16  that you could go to a single point of contact and

         17  that person was going to either say no, don't think

         18  so, good- bye or let me help you.  I think that

         19  would be the best thing that you could do for small,

         20  we're a start- up manufacturing firm, making a green

         21  product.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Hopefully

         23  that's what EDC's Green Desk is going to be all

         24  about and that's why I kind of peppered them with

         25  some questions earlier about, you know, I don't
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          2  think one and a half sort of person equivalent or

          3  whatever you have, like one and a half people is

          4  enough for that.  So, this is why we think we kind

          5  of need that kind of thing.  I think it's the

          6  Administration's hope that it will lie in that Green

          7  Desk.  But, it ought to be somewhere and it ought to

          8  work very well.  So, I agree with you.  So, you

          9  know, the good news is that it seems like we have

         10  something.  We have this nascent desk being created,

         11  but we have to make it into something and so, use

         12  them and then let me know how they are.

         13                 MR. ROBERTS:  Thank you very much.

         14                 MR. PEREIRA:   Chairman Gennaro.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes.

         16                 MR. PEREIRA:  Just two things I'd

         17  like to point out.  First thing is that the great

         18  seal of the City of New York has a window right in

         19  the center of it, if you weren't aware of that, and

         20  also  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I'm aware of

         22  that.  I have, I'm wearing it  --

         23                 MR. PEREIRA:  It's going back to our

         24  roots with renewable energy.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I've got it on
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          2  my pin.  I've got it on my pin here.

          3                 MR. PEREIRA:  And just another

          4  comment on the conferences.  I also came back from

          5  Denver this weekend, where the Green Building

          6  Conference took place.  16,000 attendees and when I

          7  went to sign up for my booth for next year, which is

          8  going to be in LA.  They already sold out all the

          9  booths and they expect 25,000 attendees.  New York,

         10  the local New York Chapter is working aggressively

         11  to have that conference come to here, to the City,

         12  as well.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         14  Anything that, I'm sure Mayor Bloomberg himself

         15  would, you know, make an appeal to get that

         16  conference in this town.  So, we appreciate that.

         17  Yes, I'm sure Deputy Mayor Doctoroff would love to

         18  score that one.  Yes, we could talk more about that,

         19  but I've got to move forward.  Guys, thanks very

         20  much.  Appreciate you being here.

         21                 Lisa Hendrickson, Hendrickson Custom

         22  Cabinetry, Daniel Simon of The Gaia Institute and

         23  Lee looks like Zuniss of Aldine or Aldine,

         24  Incorporated.  Mr. Simon and Mr. Zuniss, okay. This

         25  is sealed, right?
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          2                 MR. SIMON:  You can open it.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  No, I'll wait

          4  to hear what's inside it first.  Donna will give the

          5  oath.

          6                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Please raise

          7  your right hand.  In the testimony that you are

          8  about to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the

          9  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         10                 MR. SIMON:  Sure.

         11                 MR. ZUNISS:  Yes.

         12                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, I guess

         14  Mr. Simon, you're on my left, right?

         15                 MR. SIMON:  Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  Do you

         17  have a statement, Mr. Simon, or you just have  --

         18                 MR. SIMON:  Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

         20                 MR. SIMON:  It's coming around with

         21  the jar of jam.  I'm Daniel Simon here, representing

         22  The Gaia Institute.  I want to thank the Council and

         23  support staff for inviting me here. I want to thank

         24  you especially for keeping me sitting here so long,

         25  because it's not every day that I get to hear so
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          2  many sustainability leaders voicing their concerns.

          3                 We've heard a lot about green

          4  building here, which is essentially what part one of

          5  my testimony covers, so just real quick.  I returned

          6  from Green Build as well this morning on the red eye

          7  and just bring you a couple of short news tidbits

          8  from there.

          9                 Last week, the USGBC announced that

         10  any project achieving LEED platinum, the highest

         11  level of certification, will have all fees refunded.

         12    This level of certification will certainly receive

         13  considerable, require considerable amounts of both

         14  recycled and local products.

         15                 Last week, in Washington, DC, the

         16  City Council unanimously voted in a preliminary

         17  measure to require all developers, not just

         18  government developers, but all developers, public

         19  and private, to meet certain LEED standards within

         20  the next five years.  Green products manufactured

         21  here in New York can be exported to our surrounding

         22  cities.

         23                 Now, I'll get to part two.  The Gaia

         24  Institute, a 501(c)3 non- for- profit corporation,

         25  has recently begun a social venture, marketing
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          2  GaiaSoil for Green Roofs, a patented ultra

          3  lightweight green roof growing medium, comprised

          4  mainly of recycled expanded polystyrene, commonly

          5  referred to as Styrofoam, mixed with finished

          6  compost.  These ingredients are both waste products

          7  that contribute significantly to the urban waste

          8  stream. GaiaSoil, under LEED, qualifies

          9  simultaneously for recycled materials and local

         10  materials.

         11                 Green roofs provide many economic and

         12  environmental benefits, including reduced heating

         13  and cooling costs, longer roof life, a reduced urban

         14  heat island effect, reduced storm water runoff and

         15  combined sewer overflow, reduced air pollution and

         16  increased biodiversity.

         17                 Currently, we have two primary

         18  installations in New York City, one atop Saint

         19  Simasuch School in the Bronx, funded by the Bronx

         20  Overall Economic Development Council under the

         21  blessings of Borough President Carrion and also at

         22  Cook Plus Fox's Sixth Avenue office in Manhattan.

         23                 We see New York City as our most

         24  promising market. However, we are currently

         25  manufacturing in Duchess County.  A major reason for
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          2  choosing this location is economic.  Rent on a farm

          3  in Duchess County is far lower than rent in New York

          4  City and labor costs are lower as well.  However, if

          5  the economic costs were more favorable, we would

          6  almost certainly open a manufacturing facility in

          7  New York City.  Immediately, the cost of GaiaSoil

          8  for green roofs would go down as our transportation

          9  costs decline.  The cost benefit analysis of green

         10  roofs would immediately shift further in favor of

         11  green roofs.

         12                 The City would benefit from all the

         13  aforementioned benefits of green roofs.  The City

         14  would benefit as more and more expanded polystyrene

         15  and organic wastes were pulled from the waste stream

         16  and reused locally and also benefit from reduced

         17  waste hauling and tipping fees to places far outside

         18  New York City.

         19                 The Gaia Institute would generate

         20  additional revenue that would allow us to do a lot

         21  more of the valuable work that we do on storm water

         22  runoff reduction, CSO reduction, wetlands

         23  remediation and so forth.  All of which has a

         24  tremendous benefit to the City.

         25                 As John Muir pointed out, tug on
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          2  anything at all and you'll find it connected to

          3  everything in the universe. Roofers and landscapers

          4  alike would see increased job potential, creating

          5  more jobs in New York City.  More green roofs could

          6  lead to increased opportunities in urban nurseries

          7  and urban agriculture, sold at premium at local

          8  green markets and restaurants, reducing the amount

          9  of miles required to bring us our food.

         10                 A greener City would increase the

         11  City's quality of life ratings and bring more young,

         12  creative people to the City.  Recycling our waste

         13  locally may boost tax payer faith in the City's

         14  recycling program, spurring increased recycling

         15  efforts by the City's citizens.

         16                 By fostering a green economy in New

         17  York City, we can be an exemplary model for economic

         18  growth and environmental protection to the rest of

         19  the country and the rest of the world. As the great

         20  Senegalese environmentalist Bab Dioum remarked, in

         21  the end we will conserve only what we love.  We will

         22  love only what we understand.  We will understand

         23  only what we are taught. Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         25  Appreciate you being here.  I just want to ask
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          2  Sergeant a question.  Nick, could you just find out

          3  for me if.  Lee, please.

          4                 MR. ZUNISS:  Good afternoon and thank

          5  you to Chairpersons Jim Gennaro and Thomas White and

          6  Members of the City Council's Environmental

          7  Protection and Economic Development Committees for

          8  the invitation and opportunity to speak today.

          9                 I'd also like to take this

         10  opportunity to praise the Council for taking a

         11  leadership in driving a sustainable, sustainability

         12  agenda for New York City.

         13                 Aldine is a family- owned commercial

         14  printing company, located in the Soho District of

         15  Lower Manhattan.  This coming April, we will be

         16  celebrating our 25th year anniversary of operating

         17  in Manhattan.  We are now located in our third Lower

         18  Manhattan location and plan on staying.  We are

         19  proud to say that we, we are proud to say that we

         20  have about 95 percent of our clients are located in

         21  New York City and we currently employ over 75 people

         22  of whom over 96 percent are New York City residents.

         23                 Aldine provides high- end specialty

         24  printing for various law firms.  We currently do six

         25  out of the top ten law firms in Manhattan, Simpson

                                                            160

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  Thacher, Paul Weiss and Proskauer Rose are examples,

          3  financial institutions, graphic designers and non-

          4  profits amongst other various organizations.

          5                 Over the past year, Aldine has taken

          6  a number of steps to becoming a more green and

          7  sustainable company.  We are very proud of becoming

          8  the first and only FSC or Forestry Stewardship

          9  Council- certified commercial printer in Manhattan,

         10  in our sector, offering printing on paper that comes

         11  from sustainably operated forests for organizations

         12  such as the Rainforest Alliance.

         13                 We are taking other steps as well,

         14  such as using vegetable instead of petroleum- based

         15  inks, taking advantage of technology in order to

         16  reduce waste, working on a line of green products,

         17  focusing on using local vendors and keeping about 95

         18  percent of our base, our client base in New York

         19  City.  Aldine is dedicated to making a positive

         20  impact on New York City's economy and on our

         21  environment.

         22                 We at Aldine are realizing how

         23  essential it is to transition into a greener and

         24  more sustainable company and how much effort is

         25  involved in this process.  We are asking the City to
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          2  help in regard to funding our efforts.  For example,

          3  providing equipment grants, incentives for lowering

          4  energy bills and especially for leasing or

          5  purchasing commercial real estate in Manhattan while

          6  we take steps toward sustainability.

          7                 I wanted to, I'd like to say also,

          8  it's not in my testimony, ITAC, if it wasn't for

          9  ITAC, we, we would have been pushed out of Manhattan

         10  many years ago, probably into New Jersey or

         11  somewhere else.

         12                 One particular concern is the process

         13  of quoting for City printing projects.  The vendor

         14  approval process can be so lengthy and complicated

         15  that for a small to medium sized company like

         16  Aldine, it can be quite daunting.  Alleviating some

         17  of the barriers would make the process less

         18  intimidating.  It would give some of the smaller,

         19  New York City vendors a great, a greater chance of

         20  winning a contract.

         21                 In summary, Aldine is committed to

         22  becoming more sustainable, green and staying in New

         23  York City.  We encourage the City to help the

         24  manufacturing sector, so we can maintain our

         25  community presence.  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Than you both.

          3  It's a great success story you have there at Aldine.

          4    I'm glad that ITAC was able to be of help to you.

          5  The points that you make regarding getting a little

          6  slack from the government as you go green is

          7  certainly well taken.  We appreciate you being here.

          8                 The Gaia Institute, it's always a

          9  pleasure to work with that great group and please

         10  say hi to Paul for us.  We appreciate everything

         11  you're doing.  So you gave in like on the red eye

         12  from the thing last night, from, okay, okay, you're

         13  doing okay though.  You look good.  Okay.  I want to

         14  thank all the witnesses for participating.  I want

         15  to thank my Co-Chairman, Tom White, and Members of

         16  both Committees and with no else wishing to be

         17  heard, this Hearing's adjourned.

         18                 (Hearing concluded at 4:35 p.m.)
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